a-AMYLASE FROM GIBBERELLIN-INDUCED BARLEY ALEURONE CELLS: PARTIAL CHARACTERIZATION AND EFFECTS OF 5-FLUOROURACIL

> Dissertation for the Degree of Ph. D. MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY SHIRLEY J. RODAWAY 1977



This is to certify that the

thesis entitled

 α -Amylase from Gibberellin-Induced Barley Aleurone Cells:

Partial Characterization and Effects of 5-Fluorouracil

presented by

Shirley J. Rodaway

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for

Ph.D. degree in Botany and Plant Pathology

l J . . c

Major professor

Date February 22, 1977

O-7639





.•

.

. .

•

a-AMYLA PARTI

1-Amylase

medium and hom

barley (Hordeu

i M gibberell

Furified enzym

in the origina

plyacrylamide

^{Bclecular} weig

^{stabilized} the

be removed by

Initially

Sprinesis of a .

(37: 39, 1972) followed by inc

ed then by GA3

the same sch

ABSTRACT

α-AMYLASE FROM GIBBERELLIN-INDUCED BARLEY ALEURONE CELLS: PARTIAL CHARACTERIZATION AND EFFECTS OF 5-FLUOROURACIL

Ву

Shirley J. Rodaway

 α -Amylase has been purified from the combined incubation medium and homogenate of de-embryonate grains ("half-seeds") of barley (Hordeum vulgare L. cv. Betzes) which have been treated with l μ M gibberellic acid (GA₃) to induce α -amylase synthesis. The purified enzyme contained all the six isozymes of α -amylase found in the original crude extract. Based on sodium dodecyl sulfatepolyacrylamide gel electrophoresis there was only one component by molecular weight, a 41,400 dalton polypeptide. Free calcium, which stabilized the enzyme to heat at pH 8, and free carbohydrate could be removed by chromatographic procedures.

Initially an investigation of the precise time course of the synthesis of α -amylase mRNA and a determination of the half-life of that mRNA were intended. Carlson had reported (Nature New Biol. 237: 39, 1972) that imbibition of aleurone tissue in H₂O for 1 day, followed by incubation in 10^{-4} <u>M</u> 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) for 2 days and then by GA₃ plus 5-FU for one more day led to the synthesis α -amylase which was more thermolabile in the absence of calcium than was α -amylase obtained from aleurone tissue incubated according to the same schedule but without 5-FU. Presence of 5-FU together

- with GA_3 on the
- two populations
- more and less t
- Carlson conclud
- was more heat ;
- with GA3. Car
- ENA during tr
- labile) popula
 - In attemp
- of the assumpt
- Which were co:
- 5-TT entered
- 5 m at 10^{-2}
- much as 90%.
- was only inhi
- teatment did
- tion and mole
- agreement wit
- not be purifi
- the 1-amylase
- fication step introlase pre
- enetics which alegrone with
- t l-àmylàse t l result o tat, contrar

with GA_3 on the last day of incubation only,led to the synthesis of two populations of α -amylase molecules, apparently representing the more and less thermolabile populations of the first two treatments. Carlson concluded that the population of α -amylase molecules which was more heat stable must have been synthesized prior to treatment with GA_3 . Carlson proposed that 5-FU was incorporated into α -amylase mRNA during transcription, thus leading to the altered (more thermolabile) population of α -amylase molecules.

In attempting to extend those observations and to justify some of the assumptions which were made, I collected the following data which were consistent with Carlson's conclusions. Metabolites of 5-FU entered the pool of RNA precursors in aleurone tissue because 5-FU at 10^{-2} <u>M</u> inhibited synthesis of rRNA and 4 to 5S RNA by as much as 90%. At the same 5-FU concentration, α -amylase synthesis was only inhibited 10 to 20%. The α -amylase synthesized after 5-FU treatment did not differ from normal a-amylase in isozyme composition and molecular weight. However, some findings were not in agreement with those of Carlson. In my experiments α -amylase could not be purified by the method which he had employed because all of the *a*-amylase activity was lost during one of the intermediate purification steps. Instead, an alternate, more gentle method was used. a-Amylase prepared by this procedure exhibited thermal denaturation kinetics which were independent of the previous incubation of the aleurone with 5-FU. The rate of thermal denaturation was independent of α -amylase concentration, and no degradation of α -amylase occurred as a result of the heat treatment. These results have established that, contrary to the report by Carlson, one cannot use the thermal

- denaturation o
- measure the ti
 - In Section
- preparing sma
- covalently bo
- polyacrylamid
- techniques of
- analysis of t
- by whole gra:
- tain on the a
- glucosamine.
- barley grain
- and tyrosine
- ^{aclecule}. A
- during GA3-t
- ^{c-arylase}, i

denaturation of α -amylase prepared from 5-FU-treated half-seeds to measure the timing of the synthesis of α -amylase mRNA.

In Section II of this dissertation, a method is described for preparing small amounts (<1 mg) of protein for analysis of its covalently bound sugar content. This method combined SDSpolyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and either aqueous or non-aqueous techniques of carbohydrate hydrolysis followed by gas-chromatographic analysis of the sugars. Using this method, the α -amylase secreted by whole grains of the Himalaya cultivar of barley was found to contain on the average up to 0.5 residues of mannose, glucose, and glucosamine. The amino-acid composition of α -amylase from Himalaya barley grains showed that it contained proportionately more histidine and tyrosine and less glutamate/glutamine than the average protein molecule. A second protein is described which was not synthesized during GA₃-treatment but which had many properties similar to α -amylase, including partial glycosylation.

a-AMYI

PART

α -AMYLASE FROM GIBBERELLIN-INDUCED BARLEY ALEURONE CELLS: PARTIAL CHARACTERIZATION AND EFFECTS OF 5-FLUOROURACIL

Ву

Shirley J. Rodaway

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Botany and Plant Pathology

One of

Research La

expertise j

much from e

reason, I :

and ideas w

attitudes

Har.s

of how to

while enco

ackrowledg

too sericu

I tha

arino acid

tained wit

P. Filzer

I of this

Final L. M. Blax

Flart Filige

ilsgertati,

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

One of the major advantages of doing research at the Plant Research Laboratory is that an informal interchange of ideas and expertise is highly encouraged and we are continually learning as much from each other as we are from our own experiments. For this reason, I find that I must thank the whole of the PRL for philosophies and ideas which no doubt have incorporated themselves into my own attitudes and research.

Hans Kende is especially acknowledged for setting a fine example of how to approach and solve basic problems in plant development, while encouraging independent thinking by his students. He is also acknowledged for teaching us the fine art of not taking ourselves too seriously, while taking our research very seriously.

I thank Andrew Mort for teaching me techniques of sugar and amino acid analysis and Derek Lamport for the use of equipment maintained within his laboratory. In addition, I thank J. E. Varner and P. Filner for valuable discussions concerning work reported in Section I of this dissertation.

Finally, I would like to express my continuing gratitude to L. M. Blakely for encouraging and supporting my early interest in plant physiology which ultimately has led to the completion of this dissertation.

ii

The rese

Energy Commis

Administrati

The research reported here was supported by the U.S. Atomic Energy Commission and the U.S. Energy Research and Development Administration under Contract E(11-1)-1338.

SECTION I .

INTEC

MATE

REST

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

	•
SECTION 1	T
INTRODUCTION	1
Control of Gene Expression in Eukaryotes Induction of α -Amylase Synthesis by Gibberellic	1
Acid in Barley Aleurone Layers	2
tion of αA -mRNA	6
MATERIALS AND METHODS	10
Preparation and Incubation of Barley Half-Seeds .	10
Homogenization of Tissue	11
Purification of Calcium-Free α -Amylase (Method I)	14
Partial Purification of $lpha$ -Amylase (Method II)	25
α -Amylase Assay	30
Protein Assays	36
Carbohydrate Assays	36
Calcium Assay	39
Thermal Denaturation	39
Separation of Proteins by Polyacrylamide Gel	
Electrophoresis	40
Fairbanks (et al.) Method	40
Laemmli Method	42
Ingle Method	42
Isozyme Separation by Agar Gel Electrophoresis.	43
³² P-Labeling and Isolation of Ribonucleic Acid.	44
RESULTS	47
Response of Half-Seeds of Betzes Barley to GA3	47
Effect of 5-FU on α -Amylase Synthesis	52
Effect of 5-FU on RNA Synthesis	52
Purification of α -Amylase	55
Removal of β -Amylase	64
Electrophoretic Homogeneity on SDS-	
Polyacrylamide Gels	65
Removal of Carbohydrate	75
The Loyter and Schramm Purification	
Procedure	76
Yield of α -Amylase During Purification	79
Isozyme Recovery	83

E ,

DISCUSS

ETTION II. .

INTRODU

MATERIA

RESULTS

0

	Effects of 5-FU on Molecular Weight and Iso-	
	zyme Content of α-Amylase	86
	Molecular Weight	86
	Isozyme Composition	86
	Recovery of Activity and Specific Activity	
	of α -Amylase During Purification	87
	The Thermal Denaturation Process: General	
	Aspects	92
	Effect of Calcium.	92
	Effect of Protein Concentration	95
	Test for Protease Activity	95
	Effect of 5-FU on the Thermal Stability of	
	a-Amylase.	97
		2.
DISCUSS	STON	103
DIDCODE		105
	Suitability of the <i>a</i> -Amylase Preparation for	
	Studies of Thermal Inactivation Kinetics	103
	Use of 5-FU to Time the Synthesis of a-Amylase	105
	mpNN	106
		100
CECTION II		110
SECTION II		110
TNEDODI	100 101	110
INTRODU		110
		110
MATERIA	ALS AND METHODS	112
	Tranhatian of Cusing for a Impleme Durification	110
	Incubation of Grains for α -Amylase Purification .	112
	Purification of α -Amylase	112
	Preparation of "C-Labeled α-Amylase from	
	Aleurone Layers	114
	Incubation of Grains on Agar	114
	Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis	115
	Staining of Gels for Carbohydrate	117
	Isoelectric Focusing	117
	Ammonium-Sulfate Fractionation	118
	Amino Acid Analysis	118
	Carbohydrate Analysis	120
	Glassware and Dialysis Tubing	122
	Source of Chemicals	122
RESULTS	5	124
	Synthesis of a-Amylase by Barley Grains	124
	Partial Purification of α -Amylase	124
	Purity of the α -Amylase Solution	129
	Attempts to Remove the 20,500 Dalton Protein	
	(Band-2)	129
	Amino-Acid Composition of α -Amylase and the	
	Band-2 Protein	138
	Glycosylation of α -Amylase and the Band-2	
	Protein	140
	Reactions with Carbohydrate Stains	149
	Origin of the Band-2 Protein	155

DISCUS

REFERENCES.

DISCUS	SION	•	•	•	•	•••	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	156
	Amino-Acid Composition.	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	156
	Glycosylation	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	157
	The Band-2 Protein	•	•	•	•	• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	162
REFERENCES		•	•	•	•	• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	165

Table 1 Incor of Be 2 Effect dena 3 Anno 4 Amir 5 An: 6 Сот. а-а ٢ Res Э Re: 9 Co n

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1	Incorporation of ³² P into RNA by aleurone layers of Betzes barley	58
2	Effect of protein concentration on the thermal denaturation of α -amylase	96
3	Ammonium-sulfate precipitation of purified α -amylase	137
4	Amino acid composition of barley α -amylase	139
5	Amino acid composition of the band-2 protein	141
6	Comparison of amino acids in barley and wheat α -amylases	142
7	Residues of sugar per molecule of α -amylase	144
8	Residues of sugar per molecule of band-2 protein	146
9	Comparison of α -amylase to an "average protein" molecule	158

Figure

1 Incuba

2 Diluti ficati

3 Effect activi

4 DEAE-c barley

5 Stabil

6 Effect the st

7 Hydrol Produc

8 Hydrol

9 Synthe Betzes

D Synthe of Bet 5-Fy .

11 5-Fluc

12 SDS-PO barley

13 Incorpo tissue 14 Specified of hale

15 SDS-P01 2-anyla ie Mobilit Prepare

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Ρ	age
1	Incubation of barley half-seeds	•	13
2	Dilution effect on α -amylase recovery during purification	•	16
3	Effect of increasing temperatures on the amylase activity of the crude homogenate	•	19
4	DEAE-cellulose chromatography of α -amylase from Betzes barley	•	24
5	Stability of α -amylase at pH 10.0	•	29
6	Effect of starch concentration on the development of the starch-iodine complex	•	33
7	Hydrolysis of starch by α -amylase: reaction of the products with iodine	•	35
8	Hydrolysis of starch by sweet potato $\beta\text{-amylase}$	•	38
9	Synthesis and release of amylase by half-seeds of Betzes barley in response to GA_3	•	49
10	Synthesis and release of α -amylase from aleurone layers of Betzes barley in response to GA ₃ : effect of 10^{-3} M 5-FU	•	51
11	5-Fluorouracil concentration and α -amylase synthesis .	•	54
12	SDS-Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of RNA from barley aleurone layers	•	57
13	Incorporation of ³² P into RNA species from aleurone tissue of Betzes barley: Effect of 5-FU	•	60
14	Specific activities of the RNA species after treatment of half-seeds with 5-FU	•	62
15	SDS-Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of purified α -amylase	•	67
16	Mobilities of protein standards in polyacrylamide gels prepared as in Figure 15		70

Figure	2
17	Elect: Laemm
18	Polya SDS.
19	Flow
20	Separ
21	Effe activ
22	Spec Puri
23	Effe of F
24	The: tal:
25	The: tio:
26	Syn bar
27	Sol tat
28	Pre COI
29	Pur
30	Iso
31	Per acr
32	Per Pol

Figure

.

17	Electrophoresis of α -amylase using the method of Laemmli (1970)	72
18	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of α -amylase without SDS	74
19	Flow diagram for the purification of α -amylase	81
20	Separation of α -amylase on agar slab gels	85
21	Effect of 5-FU treatment on the recovery of α -amylase activity during purification	89
22	Specific activities of α -amylase at each stage of purification	91
23	Effect of calcium on the rate of thermal denaturation of purified α -amylase	94
24	Thermal denaturation of α -amylase from 5-FU-treated half-seeds	99
25	Thermal denaturation of α -amylase: continuous incuba- tion in 10^{-4} <u>M</u> 5-FU	102
26	Synthesis and release of α -amylase by germinating barley grains.	126
27	Solubilization of α-amylase after glycogen precipi- tation	128
28	Precipitation of the solubilized glycogen-amylase complex by ethanol	131
29	Purity of the α -amylase after precipitation by glycogen.	133
30	Isoelectric focusing of α -amylase	136
31	Periodate-Schiff (PAS) staining of α -amylase in poly-acrylamide gels	151
32	Periodate-dansyl hydrazine staining of α-amylase in polyacrylamide gels	154

Acca
and a start of the
14-DPNA
DEAE-cellulos
DTA
EGTA
5-70
5-J.
G.,
24
745

L'ELESNA

2

is N

لاية. لاتيمية

ABBREVIATIONS

Acca	a buffer of 1 mM acetate, 100 mM CaCl ₂ , pH 4.8
AMPS	ammonium persulfate
aA-mRNA	α-amylase messenger RNA
DEAE-cellulose	diethylaminoethyl-cellulose
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGTA	ethyleneglycol-bis-(β -aminoethyl ether)N,N'- tetraacetic acid
5-FO	5-fluoroorotic acid
5-FU	5-fluorouracil
GA 3	gibberellic acid
mA	milliamperes
PAS	periodic acid-Schiff reaction
pI	isoelectric point
r-preRNA	precursor to rRNA
SDS	sodium dodecylsulfate
TCA	trichloroacetic acid
TEMED	N,N,N'N'-tetramethylenediamine
TFA	trifluoroacetic acid
Tris	tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
Trisca	a buffer of 5 mM Tris-HCl, 5 mM CaCl ₂ , pH 8.0

SECTION I

INTRODUCTION

Control of Gene Expression in Eukaryotes

In eukaryotes the events which occur between transcription and appearance of a functional protein are separated both in space and This is unlike the situation in prokaryotes where the nascent time. RNA transcript may be engaged in translation even before its transcription is completed. In prokaryotes, gene expression has been found to be regulated at the transcriptional or post-translational levels. In eukaryotes, however, the supply of a specific protein may be controlled either at the level of transcription or at several possible post-transcriptional steps. Because development is a dynamic process, it is easy to see that by varying the rates at which each reaction occurs, or by varying the time spent between reactions, very fine controls can be exerted over the amounts and kinds of proteins present in the cell at any one time. For this reason, the striking effects of hormones in those systems where the amounts and species of proteins change must ultimately result from hormonally induced changes in the rates of such key reactions which lead to the synthesis or activation of protein molecules.

Four levels at which gene expression may be controlled are generally distinguished: the transcriptional, post-transcriptional, translational, and post-translational levels of control. A transcriptional mechanism of control implies that a functional protein is synthesized as soon as the gene is transcribed. Cases of

1

post-transc molecules i nucleus, ur removal of ribosomes, INA. At t tion, and r and even af polypeptide cofactor as It is necess to suspect t reaction whi The cont ^{exter.sively} s ^{tively} little Techarism by the synthesis we aleurone (triploid cells ^{tydrolytic} enz ^{cell contents} tryo (review ^{sinthesis} and , ^{hyirate} is cont sittesis, of , post-transcriptional control include processing of the pre-mRNA molecules into potentially active mRNA, transport of mRNA out of the nucleus, unmasking of the mRNA from an inactive to an active form by removal of protein, binding of the mRNA to the appropriate class of ribosomes, and regulating the degradation rate for that particular mRNA. At the transcriptional level, the rates of initiation, elongation, and release of the polypeptide and/or mRNA may be limiting, and even after the encoded amino acids are joined together, that polypeptide may need to be covalently modified or activated by a cofactor as post-translational control mechanisms are effected. It is necessary when studying hormone-induced enzyme synthesis to suspect that any one of these events may be the rate-limiting reaction which is affected by the hormone.

Induction of α-Amylase Synthesis by Gibberellic Acid in Barley Aleurone Layers

The control of gene expression in eukaryotes has been most extensively studied in metazoan systems (Maclean, 1976) and relatively little in higher plants. I have been concerned with the mechanism by which the plant hormone, gibberellic acid (GA_3) , induces the synthesis of α -amylase in aleurone cells of mature barley grains. The aleurone cells constitute a homogeneous layer of non-dividing, triploid cells which are committed to the synthesis and secretion of hydrolytic enzymes and to the hydrolysis and release of most of their cell contents to provide substrates for the growth of the germinating embryo (reviewed by Varner and Ho, 1976). The induction of enzyme synthesis and secretion and the release of inorganic ions and carbohydrate is controlled by GA_3 . However, the rates of general protein synthesis, of respiration (Varner et al., 1965), and of total RNA

2

synthesis ı-Amylase regulated 40% of the 1976). Be 2 mits of 8-hour lag up to 40 u An obcontrolled which GA 3 transcript 3A3 ≣ight (the rate o tollowing : of active (transcript: rom peen bi Tclecule is ^{activity} is 23 control This concly the buoyant fed to ale Jerriase, icids duri burgant de iad stown synthesis (Jacobsen and Zwar, 1974a) are unaffected by the hormone. α -Amylase is the most prominent among the hydrolases whose synthesis is regulated by GA₃; at its maximum rate of synthesis α -amylase represents 40% of the total protein being synthesized by the cell (Varner and Ho, 1976). Before GA₃ is added to isolated aleurone layers, as few as 1 or 2 units of α -amylase may be present within the tissue, while after an 8-hour lag period, the GA₃-treated layers may synthesize and secrete up to 40 units per layer over a period of 16 hr.

An obvious major question with regard to the hormonallycontrolled synthesis of α -amylase concerns the level of control at which GA, exerts its effect. More specifically, does GA, induce the transcription of the α -amylase mRNA (α A-mRNA)? The possibility that GA_3 might exert its control over α -amylase synthesis by affecting the rate of transcription of aA-mRNA must be considered for the following reasons. First, the 8-hour lag period before the appearance of active α -amylase is of sufficient duration to allow time for transcription, processing and translation to occur. Second, it has now been proven that the complete polypeptide portion of the α -amylase molecule is synthesized at the time when the increase in enzyme activity is first detected, thus eliminating the possibility that GA_3 controls α -amylase synthesis at the post-translational level. This conclusion can be drawn from work of Ho (1976), who showed that the buoyant density of α -amylase increased when ¹³C-amino acids were fed to aleurone layers after the lag phase, when the activity of α -amylase was increasing. Conversely, the addition of ¹³C-amino acids during the period of the lag phase alone had no effect on the buoyant density of the α -amylase. Earlier, Varner and Chandra (1964) had shown that nearly all of the tryptic peptides prepared from

3

1-amylase 1 taneously 1 a-amylase ' density of beer incub case, the were relea acids were Recent the transc was an inc layers to of the tis was incuba Synthesizi Precipitat in the in the appear aleurone 1 beginning a naximum Varner, 19 total arrov the contro Furt critical ; sering in ites sites
α -amylase were labeled when radioactive amino acids were added simultaneously with GA₃, and Filner and Varner (1967) had shown that α -amylase was synthesized after GA₃ was added, since the buoyant density of all of the α -amylase was increased when the layers had been incubated in medium containing GA₃ and H₂¹⁸O. In this latter case, the endogenous amino acids became labeled with ¹⁸O as they were released from storage proteins by proteolysis, and the ¹⁸O-amino acids were incorporated into the nascent α -amylase molecules.

Recent reports indicate that GA_3 affects α -amylase synthesis at the transcriptional level. Higgins et al. (1976) showed that there was an increase in the capacity of total poly(A)-RNA from aleurone layers to direct in vitro synthesis of α -amylase following treatment of the tissue with GA, for increasing periods of time. Poly(A)-RNA was incubated with ³⁵S-methionine in the wheat germ proteinsynthesizing system, and labeled a-amylase was identified by immunoprecipitation. The amount of radioactivity which could be precipitated in the in vitro system increased with precisely the same kinetics as the appearance of α -amylase activity in vivo. GA₃-treatment of aleurone layers also increased the rate of polyadenylation of RNA, beginning half-way through the lag period (at 4 to 5 hr) and reaching a maximum (a 60% increase) at the end of the lag period (Ho and Varner, 1974; 1975). Within the first 16 hr of GA, treatment, the total amount of new poly(A)-RNA species increased 70% over that of the control tissue (Jacobsen and Zwar, 1974a,b).

Furthermore, a number of early observations indicated that some critical species of RNA molecule were synthesized during the lag period in response to GA_3 , although some of these conclusions have been subsequently challenged (Jacobsen and Zwar, 1974a,b). These

observat synthesi and Varne overall } the horma specific (Chandra notably c and Chand inhibitor tad begun at the let From ^{exerts} a d mclecules. 3 increa $^{(20)}$ and $_{Va}$ Poly (A) - Rece imply that ta.scribed the poly(A) Vitro activ 3 treatme: or the Proci ^{itiggins} et st and synth Kinted Out X:Yadenylat observations were based on the use of various inhibitors of RNA synthesis (Varner and Chandra, 1964; Varner et al., 1965; Chandra and Varner, 1965; Varner and Johri, 1967), the analysis of the overall base composition of RNA molecules labeled before and after the hormone was added (Varner et al., 1965), and the increase in the specific activity of the RNA labeled in the presence of the hormone (Chandra and Varner, 1965). Certain inhibitors of RNA synthesis, notably cordycepin (Ho and Varner, 1974) and Actinomycin D (Varner and Chandra, 1964; Goodwin and Carr, 1972), only exerted their inhibitory effects during the lag period before α -amylase synthesis had begun, again suggesting that α -amylase synthesis is regulated at the level of transcription or processing of α A-mRNA.

From all of these data it is tempting to conclude that GA3 exerts a direct effect on the synthesis of the active αA -mRNA molecules. However, no direct proof was presented to show that GA_3 increased the rate of αA -mRNA synthesis. Even though the rate (Ho and Varner, 1974) and amount (Jacobsen and Zwar, 1974) of total poly(A)-RNA synthesis increased in response to GA2, this did not imply that the specific mRNA for α -amylase was polyadenylated or transcribed during that time. Even the demonstration that some of the poly(A)-RNA contained the α -amylase message, and that the in vitro activity of the α -amylase message appeared to increase after GA3 treatment, did not constitute proof that either the transcription or the processing of α A-mRNA was dependent upon the presence of GA₂ (Higgins et al., 1976). The experiments performed with inhibitors of RNA synthesis may provide "food for thought", but it should be pointed out that cordycepin inhibits total RNA synthesis as well as polyadenylation (Ho and Varner, 1974) and Actinomycin D interferes

with the ma

1972). In

RNA synthe

1A-mENA and

synthesize:

The f

determine w

and utiliza

unequivoca)

J-amilase c

classic exp

sized using

the presence

in vitro fr

<u>Use</u> c

A new

was used by

^{layers.} Ba

and during (While in other

trexcess of be incorpora the time

the Fresence altered and the later synthe with the morphology of the endoplasmic reticulum (Vigil and Ruddat, 1972). In no case has it been shown that the primary effect of any RNA synthesis inhibitor involved the transcription or processing of α A-mRNA and not some other mRNA species required for the previously synthesized α -amylase message to be expressed.

The following problem still remains to be solved: How can one determine which of the numerous events involving α A-mRNA synthesis and utilization may be affected by GA₃? One approach which would unequivocally show whether GA₃ controls the de-repression of the α -amylase gene would be that used by Axel et al. (1973). In this classic experiment, DNA complementary to hemoglobin mRNA was synthesized using reverse transcriptase, and this DNA was used to test for the presence of a hemoglobin mRNA among the RNA molecules transcribed *in vitro* from isolated reticulocyte chromatin.

Use of 5-Fluorouracil to Study the Transcription of aA-mRNA

A new technique to determine the timing of α A-mRNA synthesis was used by Carlson (1972) in experiments with barley aleurone layers. Barley aleurone tissue was exposed to the base analog 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) either during GA₃-treatment or both prior to and during GA₃-treatment. In some treatments, no 5-FU was given, while in others 5-FU was applied as a "pulse" which was chased by an excess of exogenous uracil. Carlson hypothesized that 5-FU would be incorporated into α A-mRNA if the transcript was being synthesized at the time when 5-FU was in the medium. He also postulated that the presence of 5-FU in the α A-mRNA would manifest itself through an altered amino acid sequence of the α -amylase molecules which were later synthesized in response to GA₃. After the 5-FU and

GA₃-trea obtained exhibite tissue w GA₃ addı indicati: a series 1A-ZENA D that trar pendently It w first sec technique Tracil to l-amylase incided in the functi Carlson ha: ^{not} establ: cursors, no effects of the r-amyla that the iso ^{Were the} sar teguire pure ias necessar ^{their} statil ^{thi Nielsen,} GA_3 -treatments, Carlson determined the thermal stability of α -amylase obtained at the end of each GA_3 treatment and found that the α -amylase exhibited much greater thermal lability when extracted from aleurone tissue which had been incubated with 5-FU during the period *before* GA_3 addition. The alteration of thermal stability had been taken as indication for changes in the primary structure of α -amylase. From a series of such experiments, Carlson concluded that much of the α A-mRNA must have been synthesized prior to addition of GA_3 , and that transcription of the α -amylase gene therefore occurred independently of the action of GA_3 .

It was upon Carlson's experiments that I had wished to base the first section of this dissertation. I had proposed to use his technique of short-time treatment with 5-FU followed by chase with uracil to obtain a precise time course for the transcription of the a-amylase gene, beginning at the time when the dry tissue was first imbibed in H₂O. The technique would also have allowed me to estimate the functional lifetime of the α A-mRNA. However, the data which Carlson had published were considered controversial because he had not established the rate at which 5-FU entered the pool of RNA precursors, nor the rate at which added uracil was able to reverse the effects of 5-FU. In addition, he had not established the purity of the α -amylase preparations which he had obtained, nor had he shown that the isozyme compositions of the various α -amylase preparations were the same. Studies of thermal decay kinetics of enzymes may require pure enzyme solutions, and constancy of isozyme composition was necessary because isozymes of α -amylase differ substantially in their stability characteristics (Jacobsen et al., 1970; Frydenberg and Nielsen, 1965). Additional support for Carlson's hypothesis

would hav cause rar was incor In t Carlson's Furified isozymes the aleur of the er according altered b this tech 2-amylase synthesiz I studied protease, in my exp could exp appears t ^{sized} as in this is Practical **6** tecessary so that a Carlson if cy. Betze Chrispee (Chrispee Le tissu

would have been provided by showing directly that 5-FU was able to cause random amino acid substitutions in α -amylase and/or that 5-FU was incorporated into poly(A)-RNA.

In the course of my investigations, it became evident that Carlson's conclusions may have been premature. When α -amylase was purified by a method which led to the recovery of all of the α -amylase isozymes at a high level of purity, it was found that incubation of the aleurone tissue with 5-FU had no effect on the thermal stability of the enzyme. This is in contrast to Carlson's observations, according to which the thermal stability of the enzyme could be altered by 5-FU treatment. To examine further the feasibility of this technique, I proceeded to investigate the possibility that the α -amylase which I had purified was unlike the α -amylase originally synthesized and secreted by the aleurone tissue, or that the α -amylase I studied was contaminated by protein, carbohydrate, calcium, protease, etc., or that 5-FU was not utilized by the aleurone tissue in my experiments. In the end, however, none of these possibilities could explain the lack of a 5-FU effect. Based on my data, there appears to be no reason to believe that altered α -amylase is synthesized as a result of treating aleurone layers with 5-FU. At least in this instance, use of this technique appears to be without any practical benefit.

Because of the nature of the following report, it will be necessary to summarize the methods and results of Carlson (1972) so that a comparison may be made to methods which I have employed. Carlson incubated de-embryonated seeds of barley (Hordeum vulgare cv. Betzes) in H₂O for one day; following this, he removed (most of) the starchy endosperm and incubated the aleurone tissue in buffer (Chrispeels and Varner, 1967) for two more days. At that point $1 \mu \underline{M} \ GA_3$ was added for 24 hr, and after the incubation was terminated, the tissue was homogenized, combined with the medium, and the enzyme

purified by a method developed for pancreatic α -amylase (Loyter and Schramm, 1962). 5-Fluorouracil was added for different periods throughout the incubation period, up to a maximum of 48 hr before and 24 hr after GA3-addition, and it was implied that 5-FU treatment had no effect on the amount of α -amylase which was synthesized. If 5-FU was removed before the end of the incubation period, it was replaced with 2.5 x 10^{-4} M uracil. The purity and isozyme composition of the α -amylase preparation were not described. It is possible that β -amylase may have contaminated the final enzyme preparation. Other proteins and carbohydrates were removed from α -amylase by binding the α -amylase to glycogen, passing the α -amylase and glycogen hydrolysis products over a charcoal column (pH 10.0) to remove carbohydrate, precipitating the enzyme with acetone, ether and ethanol. Calcium was removed by dialysis against 1 mM EDTA in the presence of 1 mM hexametaphosphate.

Without 5-FU treatment, the half-life of the enzyme at 72 C was 12 min and with the longest 5-FU treatment the half-life was 5 min [these half-lives were calculated by Chandra (1974) in his re-interpretation of Carlson's results]. α -Amylase from other treatments exhibited a mixture of both elements, leading to biphasic decay kinetics. Carlson's conclusions about the timing of α -amylase mRNA synthesis were based on the shapes of these thermal decay curves.

Barl

at Michig

1974, the

grains we

room temi

ately ri:

distille

dehusked

the embr

Seeds pr

half-see

during i

for 25 m

of dist;

^{days}. [

batch in

aerated

28 Kr.0

e:d of

first 2 i deks

C_{aCl}S

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Preparation and Incubation of Barley Half-Seeds

Barley grains (Hordeum vulgare L., cv. Betzes) were harvested at Michigan State University in 1968 and were stored at 7 C until 1974, then at 20 C during the course of these experiments. The grains were dehusked by stirring the seeds slowly in 50% $\rm H_2SO_4$ at room temperature for 35 min. Following this, the seeds were immediately rinsed several times with distilled H_2O , then with doubledistilled H_2^0 , and were then blotted and dried on paper towels. The dehusked seeds were de-embryonated by transsecting the seeds behind the embryo with a scalpel in a plane perpendicular to the seed axis. Seeds prepared in this manner will be called "half-seeds." The half-seeds were also nicked at the distal ends to aid H_2O uptake during imbibition. Half-seeds were surface sterilized in 1% NaOCL for 25 min at room temperature and rinsed 5 times with 4 volumes of distilled H_0^{0} . The half-seeds were incubated for a total of 4.5 days. During the first 24 hr, the half-seeds were incubated in one batch in 100 to 200 ml of bathing solution. The solution was well aerated with air passed first through a cotton filter, then through 2% $KMnO_{\Delta}$ (as a sterilizing agent) into a gas dispersion tube, the end of which was immersed in the incubation solution. After the first 24 hr, groups of 50 half-seeds were transferred to 125-ml flasks containing 8 ml of 1 mM sodium acetate, pH 4.8, and 100 mM CaCl₂ ("Acca" buffer). Chloramphenicol (0.001%) was added to

inhibit b
on a reci
min. Fil
give a fi
tinued fo
Taximal a
analog wa
³⁰⁻⁴⁰ C.
incubatio
lA and 1
Whe
the star
It was n
days was
avoid da
released
Σtie
areuror.e
بتفق _{اطو} . بتفق _{اطو} .
e presca
electric The state
ు. స
tites wi
raiets o
tortar a
in our out

inhibit bacterial growth. The flasks were incubated for 48 hr more on a reciprocating shaker operating at 125 to 150 oscillations per min. Filter-sterilized GA_3 was added to the incubation medium to give a final concentration of 1 μ M, and hormone treatment was continued for 36 hr during which time the tissue had synthesized a maximal amount of α -amylase. In treatments with 5-FU, the base analog was solubilized by briefly warming it in Acca buffer at 30-40 C. The solution was filter-sterilized and then added to the incubation medium. Typical incubation regimes are shown in Figure 1A and 1B.

When aleurone layers were used, they were prepared by removing the starchy endosperm with thin spatulas under sterile conditions. It was necessary to incubate half-seeds for a minimum of 2 days (3 days was best) to effectively remove the starchy endosperm and to avoid damaging the aleurone layer in this process. No amylase was released into the medium before the start of the GA₃ treatment.

Homogenization of Tissue

The medium was decanted from flasks containing half-seeds or aleurone layers and set aside. Aleurone layers or half-seeds were homogenized in one of two ways. Large batches of material were ground with one-half of their weight of acid-washed sea sand in an electric mortar (Model MG-2, Torsion Balance Company, Clifton, NJ, USA). After the tissue was homogenized, the mortar was rinsed 3 times with a minimum of Acca buffer. Small batches of 10 to 25 layers or 10 half-seeds were homogenized by hand with a small porcelain mortar and pestle using about 1.4 g of sea sand and 1 ml of Acca buffer. The mortar was then rinsed 3 times with 1 ml of buffer. When the

Figure 1. Incubation of barley half-seeds. A. Half-seeds were soaked in H_2O for 24 hr before incubation in Acca buffer, with or without 5-FU. Gibberellic acid (1 μ M) was added after 3 days of imbibition. B. Half-seeds were incubated continuously in either buffer alone, or in buffer plus 5-FU. Gibberellic acid was added after 3 days of imbibition.

•

GA₃ addition



Figure 1

enzyme medium. release min, an of the ' erdospe layers (activit "tissue St barley (dilutio during : effect (superio: succinat [tris(h) 50 my Tr ^{ments} to The ^{gentle} s Swatrat grains a iat onal enzyme was to be purified, the homogenate was combined with the medium. For quantitation of the amount of enzyme synthesized and released, the layers were first washed with 200 mM CaCl₂ for 10 min, and this rinse was combined with the medium for an estimate of the "released" amylase. If half-seeds were used, the starchy endosperm, medium and the 200 mM CaCl₂ wash of the stripped aleurone layers were designated as total α -amylase released. Residual enzyme activity in the cell walls and periplasmic space were included as "tissue" amylase along with that actually retained within the cells.

Purification of Calcium-Free α -Amylase (Method I)

Step 1. The combined medium and homogenate from 300 to 400 barley half-seeds was diluted to 200 ml with Acca buffer. This dilution step was necessary to maximize the recovery of α -amylase during steps 2 and 3 (Figure 2), although dilution alone had no effect on enzyme activity at the end of step 1. The Acca buffer was superior to the following buffers for extracting the enzyme: 20 mM succinate, pH 4.8, with 0.1 M CaCl₂ and 0.3 M NaCl; 50 mM Tris [tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane], pH 8.0, with 0.1 M CaCl₂; and 50 mM Tris, pH 8.0, with 0.1 M CaCl₂ and 0.3 M NaCl. In all experiments to be reported, the pH values are those determined at 22 C.

The diluted homogenate was incubated at 25 C for 2 hr with gentle shaking to release most of the α -amylase from its native substrate. The solution, which still contained cell debris, starch grains and sand, was centrifuged at room temperature in an International Clinical Centrifuge at 1300 <u>g</u> for 10 min.

Half-seeds were incubated redistributed into four groups. Each group was homogenized in a different buffer: (a) 1 mM sodium acetate, 100 mM CaCl₂, pH 4.8, σ — σ ; (b) 20 mM succinate buffer, 100 mM CaCl₂, 300 mM NaCl, pH 5.3, Δ — Δ ; (c) 50 mM tris, 100 mM CaCl₂, pH 8.0, σ — σ ; (or (d) 50 mM tris, 100 mM CaCl₂, 300 mM NaCl, pH M NaCl, pH 8.0, x—x. The ratios of the total extractable activities were 1.3/1.1/1.0/1.0 for activity before the pH change and heating (abscissa) that the enzyme activity after such treatments The medium and half-seeds were pooled from individual flasks, then The pH recovery of α -amylase activity (ordinate) is expressed as the percent of the originally assayed represented. Dilution of the enzyme before the pH change and heating thus allowed more soluble The a/b/c/d before dilution of the crude enzyme solutions. The enzyme solutions were diluted to between 25 and 150 units per ml. Dilution alone yielded the expected enzyme activities. of the diluted solutions was raised to 8.0 and the solutions heated at 70 C for 15 min. Figure 2. Dilution effect on α -amylase recovery during purification. enzyme activity to be recovered than was originally thought to be present. as in Figure LA, without 5-FU.





Step 2. The supernatant solution was carefully decanted, and the pH of the solution was changed to 8.0 by dropwise addition of unbuffered 0.1 \underline{M} Tris base. The final concentration of Tris required was about 18 mM.

Step 3. The solution was poured into a 1500-ml Erlenmeyer flask equipped with a thermometer. The flask was incubated in a water bath set at 80 to 85 C while the temperature of the solution in the flask was maintained at 70 C. Five minutes were required to heat the solution in the flask to 70 C. For the next 10 min, the solution was maintained at 70 C + 1 C by either removing the flask to cool it or by returning it to the bath to warm it. This heating procedure was employed to inactivate β -amylases (Kneen et al., 1943; Schwimmer, 1947; Schwimmer and Balls, 1949). During this heat treatment, α -amylase retained its activity since the presence of calcium at pH 8.0 prevented the denaturation of the enzyme. At pH 4.8 (the original pH of the medium), both α - and β -amylase activities were eliminated at higher temperatures (Figure 3). After the solution was heated, it was rapidly cooled by immersing the flask into an ice bath. The heat-precipitated proteins and carbohydrates were removed by centrifugation at room temperature.

The crude preparation contained both α -amylase and β -amylase; however, no simple method was available to determine how much of the total amylolytic activity was contributed by either of those enzymes.

Step 4. The clear supernatant solution was cooled to 7 C and ice-cold absolute ethanol was added dropwise to give a final concentration of 40%. This step was preparatory to the precipitation of

Figure 3. Effect of increasing temperatures on the amylase activity of the crude Figure LA. After brief centrifugation, the clear solution was heated to the indicated temperatures. The original solutions contained about 200 units per ml of amylase activity in Acca buffer at pH 4.8. The temperatures were 22 C, dashed line; 37 C, 0; 50 C, \Box ; and 60 C, \bullet . homogenate. α -Amylase was extracted from half-seeds which had been incubated as in





glycoger. ethancl mixture 10 min, a recovered was lost Step active ufirst de<u>r</u> glycogen Cowex 1-X8 ^{Satant}. A fugation a final glyo Schramm, 19 tion after A smal ethanolic s to 60 min. J-anylase e: J-arylase pr ¹⁰ min. The ^{containing} 5 used to disso second 1 ml c "ial where th toutated at

glycogen in step 5. Thirty percent ethanol was as effective as 40% ethanol in precipitating the glycogen-amylase complex. The ethanolic mixture was chilled for at least 60 min, centrifuged at 5800 g for 10 min, and the small pellet was discarded. No activity could be recovered from the pellet, although a part of the α -amylase activity was lost during this step.

Step 5. Glycogen was used to specifically precipitate the active α -amylase as a glycogen-amylase complex. The glycogen was first deproteinized (Loyter and Schramm, 1962). To this end, oyster glycogen (2%) was centrifuged at 11,000 <u>g</u> for 10 min, and 5 g of Dowex 1-X8 and 5 g of AG 50WX2 were added to each 100 ml of supernatant. After 30 min of stirring, the beads were removed by centrifugation and the ion exchange step was repeated with new resin. The final glycogen concentration was theoretically 1.6% (Loyter and Schramm, 1962). No traces of protein remained in the glycogen solution after this procedure was followed.

A small amount of glycogen solution was added to the stirred ethanolic solution, and the mixture was stirred in the cold for 15 to 60 min. A ratio of 1 µl of glycogen solution to 7 units of α -amylase enzyme (to be defined later) was used. The small glycogen- α -amylase precipitate was pelleted by centrifugation at 4000 g for 10 min. The supernatant fraction was removed, and 1 ml of a solution containing 5 mM tris, pH 8.0, and 5 mM CaCl₂ ("Trisca" buffer) was used to dissolve the pellet. The enzyme solution was removed, and a second 1 ml of Trisca was used to rinse the area in the centrifuge vial where the pellet had been. The two solutions were combined and incubated at 37 C for 3 hr. During this time, the α -amylase digested

part was resu poly nomi gluco used Bio-F by th a sol resus 0.25 Sions ^{left} t overni Prepar C 1.7 cm ^A म्याप् freshly the a-a and the were co the ant: first co ^{° to} 0.5 part of the glycogen. Some of the glycogen was no longer soluble and was subsequently pelleted by centrifugation at 3000 g for 10 min.

Step 6. The enzyme solution contained glucose polymers (as a result of the glycogen precipitation) and some arabinose-containing polymers. Dialysis tubing specified as retaining molecules of nominal molecular-weights of 6000-8000 daltons also retained the glucose and arabinose. Therefore, a column of DEAE-cellulose was used to remove this carbohydrate. The column material (Cellex D, Bio-Rad, Richmond, CA, USA) was purified essentially as suggested by the manufacturer. Cellex D (25 g) was suspended in 1 liter of a solution containing 0.25 \underline{M} NaCl and 0.25 \underline{M} NaOH, followed by two resuspensions in distilled H₂O, one resuspension in 1 liter of 0.25 \underline{M} HCl, five resuspensions in distilled H₂O and five resuspensions in Trisca. After each resuspension the column material was left to settle for 15 to 30 min. The DEAE-cellulose was then stored overnight in Trisca. The buffer was decanted and the DEAE-cellulose preparation was stored at 4 C in fresh Trisca buffer.

Chromatography was performed at room temperature using a column 1.7 cm I.D. filled to a height of 10-12 cm with DEAE-cellulose. A pump on the outlet side restricted the flow to 0.5 ml per min. The freshly poured column was washed for 2 hr with Trisca buffer, then the α -amylase solution from step 5 (2 ml) was added to the column, and the wash was continued with 90-100 ml of buffer as 3-ml fractions were collected. All of the neutral carbohydrate, as detected using the anthrone reagent (see "Carbohydrate Assays") was removed in the first column volume. The α -amylase was eluted using a gradient of 0 to 0.5 M NaCl in 300 ml of Trisca buffer. α -Amylase activity eluted

in (II cond a-ar in 1 enzy T.e the for bicar fina) using fille buffe Cellu G-200 Satis and Ca Aquaci eluate С The co two 2-; 8 ing at Tris ar in two peaks, the first peak (I) at about 0.085 M NaCl and the second (II) at about 0.150 M NaCl (Figure 4).

Step 7. The fractions containing α -amylase were pooled and concentrated to between 1 and 2 ml. Before concentration, the α -amylase was present at less than 10 μ g/ml. Lyophilization resulted in loss of all of the enzyme activity as did concentrating the dilute enzyme with Amicon filters (Amicon Corporation, Lexington, MA, USA). The best method for concentrating the enzyme involved the removal of the solvent across a dialysis membrane. Dialyapor A membrane tubing for dialysis was boiled 4 times in a solution containing 2% sodium bicarbonate and 0.03% EDTA (ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid), and one final time in distilled H₂O. Extractive dialysis was performed using one of the following methods: (i) air drying of a suspended, filled tube with the aid of a fan, followed by dialysis in Trisca buffer; (ii) placing dry Aquacide II (Calbiochem), a carboxymethyl cellulose, on the outside of the bag; or (iii) placing dry Sephadex G-200 on the outside of the bag. This last procedure was the most satisfactory. Air-drying was time-consuming and crystals of NaCl and CaCl, formed during the up-to-50-fold concentration. The use of Aquacide II induced a pH increase of 0.4 units as the DEAE-cellulose eluate was concentrated.

Concentration of α -amylase was performed at room temperature. The concentrated protein was dialyzed overnight in the cold against two 2-liter changes of Trisca buffer.

Step 8. Calcium was removed from the enzyme solution by desalting at 7 C on a Sephadex G-25 (coarse) column equilibrated in 5 m<u>M</u> Tris and 1 mM EGTA at pH 8.0. No free calcium above the limit of

Figure 4. DEAE-cellulose chromatography of α -amylase from Betzes barley. Step 6 of the purification of α -amylase. α -Amylase activity, 0; carbohydrate (by anthrone test), \bullet ; and NaCl concentration (by refractive index), x. In this case, α -amylase activity and carbohydrate are given in arbitrary units.

ł

PUHYDRATE

cv. Betzes

/11/



F**ig**ure 4

detect Fracti a rate

by pas 5 عبر 1 3~25 c

the fl of the at 2-7

from ti using p dialys: either

inside the pH mobilit Sephade

7.6. M experim a-. closely

Percreat Carlson Darley o

rod fica

detectability (5 x 10^{-8} M) could be recovered from the column. Fractions (0.73 ml) were collected from the 1.6 \times 40 cm column at a rate of 0.7 ml/min. In some experiments, the calcium was removed by passing the sample over a Bio-Gel P-30 column equilibrated in 5 mM Tris, pH 8.0 with 1 mM EGTA. This step replaced the Sephadex G-25 column chromatography. The column volume was 1.6 x 40 cm, and the flow rate was 0.2 ml per min. Because of the decreased stability of the α -amylase upon removal of calcium, the enzyme was maintained at 2-7 C during this and subsequent steps. The active fractions from the void volume of the column were pooled and concentrated using Aquacide II or Sephadex G-200 placed on the outside of a dialysis bag containing the enzyme solution. The presence of either Aquacide II or Sephadex G-200 changed the pH of the solution inside of the bag. Aquacide II had the greatest effect, changing the pH from pH 8.0 to as low as pH 6.6, presumably by differential mobilities or ion exchange of EDTA and Tris across the membrane. Sephadex had a lesser effect, decreasing the pH from pH 8.0 to pH 7.6. Most experiments were performed using Aquacide II, but in later experiments the Sephadex material was used.

Partial Purification of α -Amylase (Method II)

 α -Amylase was also partially purified using methods which closely approximated those of Loyter and Schramm (1962) for purifying pancreatic amylase. This purification procedure had been used by Carlson without modifications (1972). Because of the nature of barley α -amylase and the medium into which it was released, certain modifications of the Loyter and Schramm method were necessary.

The m been incub cell debri tion of 0. of calcium solution w mld, abso mixture was

20,000 g fa Glycog

the solution

amylase (ur

^{PH 8.0}, was

was immedia

A second vo

15 min, the drained and

40% ethanol

^{Dellet} was

^{taining} 3 m

of calcium p l ml of the ^{for 2.5} hr a

After t ^{lsed} to incr ^{centr}ifuged , ^{carcohydrate}

The medium and homogenate from barley aleurone layers, which had been incubated in Acca buffer, were combined and centrifuged to remove cell debris. The supernatant fraction was brought to pH 6.9 by the addition of 0.5 $\underline{M} \times_2 \text{HPO}_4$. A voluminous precipitate formed composed primarily of calcium phosphate salts which precipitated at pH 5.6 to 5.8. The solution was chilled at 4 C and centrifuged at 1300 g for 8 min. Icecold, absolute ethanol was added until its concentration was 40%. The mixture was stirred for an additional 60 min and then centrifuged at 20,000 g for 20 min.

Glycogen was added in three steps. First, glycogen was added to the solution at pH 6.9 using 1 µl of a 1.6% solution per 7 units of α amylase (units are defined later). After 15 min, 0.2 <u>M</u> phosphate buffer, pH 8.0, was added to give a final buffer concentration of 10 <u>M</u>. Ethanol was immediately added to bring the ethanol concentration back to 40%. A second volume of glycogen was added, equivalent to the first. After 15 min, the precipitate was pelleted by centrifugation. The pellet was drained and was washed with 5 ml of 10 <u>mM</u> phosphate buffer, pH 8.0, in 40% ethanol. After a second centrifugation at 4000 <u>g</u> for 5 min, the pellet was resuspended in 1 ml of 20 <u>mM</u> phosphate buffer, pH 6.9, containing 3 <u>mM</u> CaCl₂. This latter solution contained a fine precipitate of calcium phosphate. The centrifuge vial was rinsed a second time with 1 ml of the pH 6.9 buffer. The solutions were combined and incubated for 2.5 hr at 37 C.

After the glycogen and α -amylase were solubilized, NH₄OH (0.2 N) was used to increase the pH of the solution to 8.4 ± 0.1. The solutions were centrifuged at 6000 g for 5 min at room temperature to remove the insoluble carbohydrate.
The m buffer aft during sub somewhat u 40% of the tated panc: the precip: spontaneous final conce enzyme unit in fact, se with a pI c shown). Th pH 7.0, and Howeve ^{Iust have e} Leyter and ^{1-amylase} w of the firs of 0.2 M ac bation at ; With one at Instead, O. ^{a concentra} ^{10.0} with p to 7.0 and ton temper _{Call}s. Int The method of Loyter and Schramm (1962) requires a rapid change of buffer after the preceding steps, because the sample must be at pH 10.0 during subsequent chromatography on a charcoal column. α -Amylase was somewhat unstable at pH 10.0 (Figure 5). After 3 hr at room temperature, 40% of the activity was lost. Loyter and Schramm apparently precipitated pancreatic amylase at its isoelectric point, pH 7.0, then dissolved the precipitate in pH 10.0 buffer made of 10 mM glycine and NaOH. This spontaneous precipitation did not occur with barley α -amylase at the final concentration of enzyme obtained prior to this step (about 320 enzyme units/ml). Preparative isoelectric focusing of barley α -amylase, in fact, segregated barley α -amylase into two peaks of activity, one with a pI of about 5.0 and the second with a pI of about 6.1 (data not shown). Thus, barley α -amylase would not be expected to precipitate at pH 7.0, and it did not.

However, in order to approximate the conditions to which Carlson must have exposed his α -amylase solutions by following the procedure of Loyter and Schramm, the following adaptation was made. Two samples of α -amylase were processed differently at this step. Sample A: The pH of the first sample was adjusted from pH 8.4 to pH 7.0 by the addition of 0.2 <u>M</u> acetic acid. No precipitation resulted after a 60-min incubation at 2 C. This meant that the buffer could not quickly be exchanged with one at pH 10.0 by dissolving the precipitate in the new buffer. Instead, 0.1 <u>M</u> glycine-NaOH, pH 10.0, was added to the solution to give a concentration of 10 mM, and the pH of the solution was adjusted to 10.0 with NH₄OH. Sample B: After first changing the pH of the solution to 7.0 and chilling it for 60 min, the second sample was dialyzed at room temperature against 10 mM glycine-NaOH, pH 10.0, containing 5 mM CaCl₂. The 2 liters of external buffer were changed every 20 min. Figure 5. Stability of α -amylase at pH 10.0. α -Amylase was purified by Method II (Loyter and Schramm procedure). The enzyme was precipitated by the addition of glycogen, then solubilized by incubation of the glycogen/amylase complex at 37 C for 2.5 hr. The pH of the solution was adjusted by the addition of glycine-NaOH buffer (pH 10) until a concentration of 10 mM was reached, followed by titration of the solution to pH 10.0 by the addition of 1N NH4OH. The activity was determined at intervals thereafter. The initial α -amylase concentration was 69.1 units per ml. The incubation was performed at room temperature.





Figure 5

After th		
8.5. Ho		
was remo		
solution		
The		
coal (ac		
USA) and		
that inst		
Were susr		
removed		
col unit ma		
Weeks -		
a-Am		
Starch su		
(Nutrition		
taining 50		
l min, coc		
supernatar		
diluted wi		
by diluti-		
100 ml H ou		
sensiti.		
The area		
solut:		
inter-		
val, 1		

After three changes (total time 1 hr), the pH of the dialysate was only 8.5. However, much of the phosphate had been removed. Calcium phosphate was removed from the dialysate by centrifugation and the supernatant solution was titrated to pH 10.0 with NH₄OH.

The charcoal-celite columns were prepared from a mixture of charcoal (activated Darco G-60, Matheson, Coleman, and Bell, Cincinnati, OH, USA) and celite 545 as suggested by Loyter and Schramm (1962), except that instead of washing the particles on a Buchler funnel, the particles were suspended and left to settle so that the fine particles could be removed. The final buffer contained 10 mM glycine-NaOH, pH 10.0. The column material was equilibrated in this solution over a period of 3 weeks. The charcoal used was kindly supplied by Dr. P. Carlson.

<u>a-Amylase Assay</u>

 α -Amylase was measured by the method of Varner and Mense (1972). Starch substrate was prepared by suspending 150 mg of potato starch (Nutritional Biochemical Corporation) in 100 ml of a solution containing 50 mM KH₂PO₄ and 10 mM CaCl₂. This solution was boiled for 1 min, cooled, and centrifuged at 12,000 <u>g</u> for 15 min at 0-5 C. The supernatant solution was separated from the gelatinous pellet and diluted with 1.5 volumes of H₂O. The iodine solution was prepared by diluting 0.3 ml of iodine stock solution (6 g KI and 0.6 g I₂ in 100 ml H₂O) with 100 ml of 0.05 N HCl. This acidified solution was sensitive to air and light and had to be freshly prepared every 2 hr. The α -amylase was diluted to 1.0 ml with H₂O, and 0.5 ml of starch solution was added at room temperature. After a suitable time interval, 1.0 ml of the acidified iodine reagent was added, thus

st
tic
rea
0.9
eno
bel
when a start with the
For
¥as
betw
elic
y co
Where
3-2
rec
די גער ג
غ م ^{رر} دو در م
^{منی} د _{ام}

stopping the hydrolysis reaction. The absorbance of the blue reaction product was measured spectrophotometrically at 620 nm.

Certain features of the assay are worthy of note. First, the reaction of iodine with starch was only linear at \underline{A}_{620} from zero to 0.950 absorbancy units (Figure 6). Thus, the starch should be diluted enough to yield a starch-iodine product which has an absorbancy below this value. Second, the enzyme assay is not linear, especially when more than 70% of the starch has been hydrolyzed (Figure 7). For this latter reason, the enzyme concentration or incubation time was varied so that the final starch-iodine complex would exhibit between 30 and 70% of the possible color development.

One enzyme unit is defined as that activity of enzyme which elicits a change of one unit in absorbance at 620 nm in one minute. A convenient formula for calculation is the following:

> number of enzyme units = $(1 - \frac{a}{b}) \left(\frac{V}{V \times t}\right) = \frac{\Delta A_{620}}{\min}$

where a = absorbance of the starch-iodine complex after hydrolysis b = absorbance of the starch-iodine complex before hydrolysis (a and b are different samples, of course) V = total volume of enzyme (ml) v = sample volume of enzyme assayed (ml)

t = time allowed for hydrolysis in minutes.

a-Amylase was assayed in four replicates, except that the fractions resulting from column chromatography were usually assayed only once.

The presence of β -amylase would cause an over-estimate of the supposed α -amylase activity. However, the starch substrate contained a substantial amount of polymer which was inaccessible to β -amylase alone. Pure β -amylase from sweet potato (Sigma type IB with a

1.00

0.75

Figure 6. Effect of starch concentration on the development of the starch-iodine complex. The starch was boiled, centrifuged, then diluted to various concentrations. The standard iodine solution was added and the absorbance at 620 nm was determined.

A₆₂₀

0.500

0.250



Figure 6

Figure 7. Hydrolysis of starch by α -amylase: reaction of the products with iodine. α -Amylase was incubated with the starch solution for increasing amounts of time, whereupon the iodine solution was added. The amount of α -amylase used in the assay was 0.107 units. The dotted area designates the region of ΔA_{620} within which the α -amylase assays were considered for calculation.

ſ

⁴⁶²⁰ 0



Figure 7

speci orly 1 Ē (1951) a high In the of eac Plates W, US acetic origin NaOH (al of and O. cedure spectr type v in the Proces cellal àreas blacks after specific activity of 785 units per ml by the maltose assay) could only hydrolyze the starch solution to a $\Lambda \Lambda_{620}$ of 0.350 (Figure 8).

Protein Assays

Protein was assayed according to the procedure of Lowry et al. (1951) as described by Layne (1957). In some cases, samples contained a high concentration of amino acids and other interfering substances. In these instances, the following procedure was adopted. Portions of each sample (10 to 20 μ l) were spotted onto cellulose thin-layer plates of 0.1 mm thick cellulose MN300 (Brinkman Instruments, Westbury, NY, USA), and thin-layer chromatography was performed in n-butanol, acetic acid, and H_0O (4:1:1 v/v). The protein remaining at the origin was assayed by scraping 0.5 by 1.0 cm sections from the plate. NaOH (0.1 N, 100 μ 1) was added to the powder, and after 10 min, 900 µl of a solution containing 2% NaCO₂, 0.02% sodium potassium tartrate, and 0.01% $CuSO_{A} \cdot 5H_{O}O$ was added with rapid mixing. The usual procedure (Layne, 1957) was then followed, and the samples were assayed spectrophotometrically at 750 nm. Bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma type VI) was used as a standard. It was assumed that all proteins in these crude mixtures were solubilized after chromatography and processing. However, pure BSA was not easily released from the cellulose. Instead, scrapings of the cellulose MN300 plates from areas devoid of protein or ninhydrin-positive material were used as blanks and soluble BSA was assayed in the presence of the cellulose after the scrapings had been suspended in the first reaction mixture.

Carbohydrate Assays

The presence of carbohydrate was determined using the anthrone reagent (Sigma Chemical Company, St. Louis, MO, USA). This reagent

Figure 8. Hydrolysis of starch by sweet potato β -amylase. At zero time β -amylase (0.5 mg) was mixed with 100 ml of the starch solution and aliquots (1.5 ml) were added to the iodine solution (1 ml) after the appropriate times of incubation. The absorbance at 620 nm was measured and the percent change was recorded.

u





(200 mg)		
solution		
thorough		
absorbant		
Sugars w		
chromato		
Fre		
bis (2-hy		
Calcium .		
quantita		
auded se		
tor suff		
²⁰⁰ µ1 c		
In ethar		
^{solutio} :		
or the c		
^{length} ,		
timit of		
ul) or a		
Car		
Ser ml .		
ensyme .		
usually		
tration		
heated .		
• •		

(200 mg) was dissolved in 100 ml of concentrated H_2SO_4 . The test solution (0.5 ml) and the dissolved reagent (1.0 ml) were mixed thoroughly. The mixture was boiled for 10 min, cooled, and the absorbance measured spectrophotometrically at 620 nm. Individual sugars were identified as their alditol acetate derivatives by gas chromatography (Jones and Albersheim, 1972).

Calcium Assay

Free calcium was determined by complexing the ion with glyoxalbis(2-hydroxyanil). The method for qualitative identification of calcium (Feigl, 1958) was modified in the following manner to permit quantitative measurements. To a 0.5 to 1.0 ml test solution were added sequentially, with mixing at each addition, 50 µl of 1 N HCl (or sufficient HCl to drop the pH to equal to or less than pH 7.0), 200 µl of a saturated solution (up to 1%) of glyoxal-bis(2-hydroxyanil) in ethanol, 100 µl of 10% NaOH, and 100 µl of 10% Na₂CO₃. The aqueous solution was extracted with 3 ml of chloroform, and the absorbance of the chloroform solution was determined at 560 nm. At this wavelength, a calcium-free solution showed very little absorbance. The limit of detection for the spectrophotometric assay was 5 µg (in 3 ml) or about 1.6 x 10^{-6} <u>M</u> of calcium.

Thermal Denaturation

Calcium-free α -amylase was diluted to between 200 and 500 units per ml with 5 mM Tris, pH 8.0, containing 1 mM EGTA. The volume of enzyme was usually between 600 and 800 µl. The zero-time sample was usually assayed six times to determine the initial α -amylase concentration. The sample, placed in a tightly sealed, 3.5-ml vial, was heated in a small waterbath (Aloe Scientific, St. Louis, MO, USA),

and after va: could be rap: which had pre Each heat-tre amount of a-a Secarat Protein gels by one <u>Fairbar.ks (e</u> Usually some modific 20 mM sodium tuffer was a The gels cor ^{glycerol}, an of TEMED and ^{solution}. T) which ha ^{in toluene}f tube contain. long. ^{à ver}y flat c 45 min, after ^{from} the gel The prot ^{concent}ration ^{of a boiling f} and after various times the vial was briefly opened so that samples could be rapidly mixed with one-half of their volume of 1 \underline{M} CaCl₂ which had previously been pipetted into small vials placed on ice. Each heat-treated sample was assayed three or four times for the amount of α -amylase activity remaining.

Separation of Proteins by Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis

Proteins were separated by electrophoresis on polyacrylamide gels by one of three methods.

Fairbanks (et al.) Method

Usually, the method of Fairbanks et al. (1971) was used, with some modifications. The running buffer consisted of 40 mM Tris base, 20 mM sodium acetate, 2 mM EDTA, and 1% SDS. The pH of the running buffer was adjusted to pH 7.4 with acetic acid before SDS was added. The gels consisted of 5.6% acrylamide, 0.21% bis-acrylamide, 10% glycerol, and the running buffer. Polymerization required 24.2 μ 1 of TEMED and 65 mg of ammonium persulfate (AMPS) per 100 ml of gel solution. The gel solution was distributed to glass tubes (6 x 150 mm) which had been silanized with 1% dichlorodimethyl silane (v/v) in toluene for 1 hr and rinsed thoroughly with methanol. Each gel tube contained about 3.5 ml of gel solution, and the gels were about 10 cm long. When the polymerizing gels were layered with isobutanol, a very flat gel surface resulted. Polymerization was complete within 45 min, after which the isobutanol was washed with running buffer from the gel surfaces.

The protein samples were dialyzed if necessary to reduce the salt concentration. Two volumes of protein were then added to one volume of a boiling solution of 5% SDS and 12.5% β -mercaptoethanol, and

boiling wa additiona glycerol, pH of the HC1. The and buffe The units of , onto the The porti immersed the elect direction for 3 hr. tubes usi ^{between} t The ^{Blue} R in ^{sary}. Af ^{removed} b ^{at 60} C. DUR MONOC Mobilitie ^{ink}, inje ^{the} gel w ^{the} stain: _{large} vol¹ boiling was continued for 10 min. The samples were cooled and one additional volume of a buffer-tracker dye solution containing 40% glycerol, 40 mM Tris, 2 mM EDTA, and 0.02% pyronin Y was added. The pH of the buffer-tracker solution had first been adjusted to 8.0 with HCl. The ratio of the volumes of the solution of protein, denaturants and buffer were thus 2:1:1, respectively.

The protein samples, each of which contained a maximum of 10 units of α -amylase or 100 µg of a mixture of proteins, were layered onto the gel surface under the running buffer of the upper chamber. The portions of the gel tubes which contained the polyacrylamide were immersed in the buffer of the lower chamber to facilitate cooling since the electrophoretic runs were performed at room temperature. The direction of electrophoresis was toward the anode using 5 mA per gel for 3 hr. After electrophoresis, gels were removed from the glass tubes using a jet of H₂O from a 2-inch, 25-gauge needle inserted between the gel and the glass tubing.

The gels were stained for protein with 0.1% Coomassie Brilliant Blue R in 50% methanol and 7.5% acetic acid. Pre-fixing was unnecessary. After 8-16 hr in the staining solution, excess stain was removed by several incubations in 5% methanol and 7.5% acetic acid at 60 C. The stained gels were scanned at 560 nm using a Beckman DUR monochrometer equipped with a Gilford linear transporter, or the mobilities relative to pyronin Y were determined with a ruler. India ink, injected with a needle, was used to mark the dye position before the gel was stained. Poor staining could be remedied by repeating the staining procedure or could be prevented by staining the gels in large volumes (50 ml per gel) of staining solution.

T		
to thos		
(68,000		
(41,000		
Şlycera		
(25,700		
theses		
by poly		
Cytochr		
obtaine		
7		
Laemmli		
Th		
or prot		
to a bo:		
^{SDS} , 0.0		
tinal co		
to this		
to the b		
Ingle Me		
A t		
using nor		
and 5 rem		
and 0.15%		
Per 100 m		
during po		
2.5 mA DO		
0.008% hr		
~10		

The molecular weight of α -amylase was determined by comparison to those of several marker proteins. These were bovine serum albumin (68,000), ovalbumin (43,000), horse liver alcohol dehydrogenase (41,000), aldolase (40,000), yeast alcohol dehydrogenase (37,000), glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (36,000), chymotrypsinogen (25,700) and cytochrome c (12,400). The molecular weights in parentheses were taken from Weber and Osborne (1969) and had been determined by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. The molecular weight of cytochrome c was given by the distributor. All marker proteins were obtained from Sigma.

Laemmli Method

The method of Laemmli (1970) was also used for electrophoresis of protein samples. Samples were prepared by adding crystalline urea to a boiling solution containing 0.125 M Tris base, 0.119 N HCl, 4% SDS, 0.0002% bromophenol blue, and 10% mercaptoethanol to give a final concentration of 8 molal urea. One volume of protein was added to this with rapid mixing, and the solution was immediately returned to the boiling water bath for 10 min.

Ingle Method

A third method used a gel system based on that of Ingle (1968), using non-denaturing conditions. The running buffer was 5 mM Tris and 5 mM glycine at pH 8.9. The gels contained buffer, 7.5% acrylamide, and 0.15% bis-acrylamide, with 50 μ l TEMED and 7.5 mg of aqueous AMPS per 100 ml of gel solution. A H₂O overlay was used to cover the gels during polymerization. After 1 hr of pre-electrophoresis at 7 C and 2.5 mA per gel, the enzyme samples, which contained 8% sucrose, and 0.008% bromophenol blue, were layered onto the gel surfaces.

Electroph min. The Coomassie unstained (approxim agar, 0.5 (pH 5.6), slices we I₂KI solu ^{cate} the Amy 1 ^{slabs} (Ja purified ₽H 7.55. 1-cm-long The dimen ^{slits} wer (17.5 cm) ^{total} of (of Whatman the slits. ^{as wicks f} ^{spor.ge} cla i men of th cloth was ^{a single} 1 Electrophoresis was continued in the cold at 2.5 mA per gel for 50 min. The gels were removed from the tubes and either stained with Coomassie blue or were examined for enzymatic activity. These unstained gels were sliced at room temperature into 2-mm sections (approximately) which were placed onto petri plates containing 1% agar, 0.5% soluble potato starch, 20 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 5.6), and 1 mM CaCl₂. After 20 hr at 25 C in the dark, the gel slices were removed, and the plates were flooded with acidified I_2KI solution. The diameter of the clear circles was used to indicate the relative α -amylase activity.

Isozyme Separation by Agar Gel Electrophoresis

Amylase isozymes were separated by electrophoresis in agar gel slabs (Jacobsen et al., 1970). The gels were formed from 1% Difco purified agar dissolved in the running buffer, 4 mM sodium phosphate, pH 7.55. The samples were each placed in one of eight individual, 1-cm-long slits arranged across the plexiglass tray holding the gel. The dimensions of the tray were 17.5 cm x 19.5 cm x 0.3 cm. The slits were arranged parallel to and 6 cm away from the narrower (17.5 cm) side of the plate. Up to 8 µl of solution containing a total of 0.3 units of α -amylase were placed on 2.5 x 10 mm wicks of Whatman No. 2 filter paper and these were gently inserted into the slits. Thin sponges (duPont cellulose sponge cloth) were used as wicks for the buffer during the electrophoresis. The edge of one sponge cloth was placed over the shorter end of the gel to within 2 mm of the samples. This was the anode end of the gel. The second cloth was placed 3.5 cm from the cathode end but was underlain with a single layer of dialysis membrane (4.0 cm wide) which helped prevent

-

electross with a sm prevent c p-Amylase After 20 the filte was ident

starch (F

at 37 C i

^{CaCl}2• T

allowed t

were subs

HC1, 0.6%

final tim

Polaroid^R

light fro

^{as} clear

One i followed i -Ci per m Medium fo: placed on Was immedi Partially lyophilize additional electroosmotic H₂O flow. The agar and exposed sponges were covered with a smooth piece of Dow Handi-Wrap^R (a thin plastic film) to prevent otherwise inevitable moisture loss from the surface. α -Amylase migrated toward the cathode at 25 mA and 7 C for 2 hr. After 20 min, the electrophoresis was briefly interrupted to remove the filter papers and the slits were gently pushed closed. Amylase was identified by incubating the gels (still in the trays) for 1 hr at 37 C in a boiled and cooled solution of 0.5% Lintner soluble starch (Fisher Scientific Company) containing 1% KH_PO_A and 0.1% CaCl₂. The agar gels were briefly rinsed in distilled H₂O and were allowed to rest on a table for 15 min at room temperature. They were subsequently incubated for 1 to 2 min in a solution of 0.5% HCl, 0.6% KI and 0.06% I₂. The gels were then briefly rinsed a final time with distilled H_2^0 . They were photographed using Polaroid^R color print film, type 48, using diffused transmitted light from a fluorescent light source. The α -amylase bands appeared as clear zones in a dark blue background.

³²P-Labeling and Isolation of Ribonucleic Acid

One hundred half-seeds were incubated for 24 hr in aerated H_2O , followed by 36 hr in Acca buffer, pH 4.8. Inorganic ^{32}P , at 70.3 µCi per ml or 560 µCi per flask of 50 half-seeds, was added to the medium for a further 12 hr. After labeling, the half-seeds were placed on paper towels and aleurone layers were prepared. Each layer was immediately rinsed in 50 mM PO₄, blotted, and dropped into a tube partially filled with liquid nitrogen. The frozen layers were lyophilized overnight and ground to a powder in the presence of additional liquid nitrogen. Ribonucleic acid was extracted from the

aleurone
Ralph (19
volumes c
saturated
0.01% 8-1
centrifu
phenol p
The two
of ice-c
and the
dissolve
^{5.5} , cor
of 1% w
for 30 r
10 min ,
three t
면 5,5
PH 5.5
final n
This me
probab.
لم حص 1 م
Loen:
33 mm DUT
ur so ¥∂c
2.c.
رب المع
lac
-<0 mm)

aleurone powder by a method which was based on that of Bellamy and Ralph (1968). The powder was homogenized with sea sand using equal volumes of (a) 1% SDS with 200 μ g/ml sodium heparin and (b) a H₂Osaturated solution containing 80 g phenol, 10 ml of m-cresol and 0.01% 8-hydroxyquinoline. The mixture was again stirred and then centrifuged in a clinical centrifuge to separate the phases. The phenol phase was extracted a second time with fresh SDS solution. The two resulting aqueous upper phases were combined, and 2 volumes of ice-cold ethanol were added. The solution was chilled for 1 hr, and the precipitate pelleted by centrifugation. The pellet was dissolved at room temperature in 5 ml of 0.1 M sodium acetate, pH 5.5, containing 0.5% SDS and 0.1% sodium heparin. CTA-bromide (1 ml of 1% w/v) was added dropwise, and the solution was placed in ice for 30 min. The precipitate was collected by centrifugation for 10 min at 13,300 g, and the pellet was washed and recentrifuged three times with cold 70% ethanol containing 0.1 M sodium acetate, pH 5.5. The washed pellet was resuspended in 0.33 M sodium acetate, pH 5.5, and reprecipitated with two volumes of cold ethanol. The final pellet was dissolved in 0.3 ml of electrophoresis buffer. This method extracted rRNA and tRNA, but poly(A)-RNA species were probably left behind.

The RNA was separated electrophoretically using the method of Loening (1967). The electrophoresis buffer included 40 mM Tris, 33 mM sodium acetate, 2 mM disodium EDTA·2H₂O and 0.4% SDS. The pH was adjusted to 7.8 with glacial acetic acid. The gels contained 2.5% acrylamide, 0.125% bis-acrylamide, 82 µl of TEMED per 100 ml of solution, and 0.8% ammonium persulfate. Plexiglass tubing (6 mm x 120 mm) was fitted at one end with a small piece of Tygon tubing so

that the get added to 4 mm of gets we at 5 mA $\frac{\Lambda}{260}$ un onto the for 105 from the unstaine were the at the 1, sliced in

Packard 1

^{used} to d

tained 0.

that the opening of the tube was reduced to 1 to 2 mm. This prevented the gels from sliding out of the gel tubes. The gel solution was added to a depth of 9-10 cm and was immediately over-layered with 4 mm of H₂O. Polymerization was complete within 30 to 45 min. The gels were pre-treated by electrophoresis without samples for 1 hr at 5 mA per gel. Afterwards, samples were prepared by mixing one \underline{A}_{260} unit of RNA with ribonuclease-free sucrose (8%) and were layered onto the tops of the gels, and electrophoresis was allowed to proceed for 105 min at 5 mA per gel. Following this, the gels were removed from the tubes and were incubated in distilled H₂O for 1 hr. The unstained gels were scanned spectrophotometrically at 260 nm. They were then lain at a slight angle in foil troughs with rubber plugs at the lower end and were frozen over dry ice. The frozen gels were sliced into 0.7 or 1.0 mm slices with a Mickle Gel Slicer. A Packard Tri-Carb liquid scintillation spectrometer, model 544, was used to determine the radioactivity. The scintillation fluid contained 0.5 g PBBO and 8 g of butyl-PBO per liter of toluene.

RESULTS

Response of Half-Seeds of Betzes Barley to GA3

Half-seeds of Betzes barley contained no detectable α -amylase activity after a three-day imbibition period on moistened sand. When 10^{-6} <u>M</u> GA₃ was added and the half-seeds were shaken in a liquid medium, α -amylase activity increased sharply after a lag period of about 8 hr (Figure 9). Ninety-five percent of the enzyme was released into the medium or the starchy endosperm. Only a low level of α -amylase was produced when no hormone was added. One half-seed of Betzes barley each synthesized between 10 and 15 units of amylase activity in a period of 40 hr.

Aleurone layers prepared from half-seeds of Betzes barley synthesized 5.0 to 5.6 units of α -amylase, again after a lag period of about 8 hr (Figure 10). However, about 30% of this activity remained associated with the tissue, even after the layers were rinsed with 0.2 <u>M</u> CaCl₂. 5-Fluorouracil at a concentration of 10⁻³ <u>M</u> did not affect the lag time for α -amylase synthesis and the amount of α -amylase synthesized by or released from the aleurone layer (Figure 10). Less than 0.12 units of enzyme were synthesized without the addition of GA₃.

Despite the fact that the Betzes barley seed had been stored (at 7 C) for five years before these studies were begun, the seeds were completely viable when placed on moist filter paper. The

Figure 9. Synthesis and release of amylase by half-seeds of Betzes barley in response to GA₃. Amylase activity was measured in the medium plus starchy endosperm ("released") and in the homogenate of the aleurone layers ("tissue"). Solid lines, l $\mu \underline{M}$ GA₃; dashed lines, no GA₃. Released, O; tissue, \bullet .





Figure 9

Figure 10. Synthesis and release of α -amylase from aleurone layers of Betzes barley in response to GA₃; effect of 10^{-3} M 5-FU. The layers were prepared from half-seeds which had been preincubated for 3 days, with or without 5-FU. Fresh medium (with or without 5-FU) was added with 1 μ M GA₃ at zero time. The aleurone layers were rinsed with 0.2 M CaCl₂ in 1 mM sodium acetate, pH 4.8 before homogenization, and the rinse was added to the medium. No 5-FU, solid lines; 1 mM 5-FU, dashed line. Released, open symbols; tissue, solid symbols.




Figure 10

dehusking to an eff Fluc than 20% result st metabolis The might hav thus prea triphosp: bility w in the h (Wilkins 1973) tha thus the inhibits IRNA SY, taken u pools o Ha by incu ^{eith}er 24 hr (renove, applie dehusking with acid decreased the viability by 30%, presumably due to an effect of the acid on the superficially located embryo.

Effect of 5-FU on α -Amylase Synthesis

Fluorouracil did not inhibit the synthesis of α -amylase by more than 20% at concentrations of up to 10^{-2} <u>M</u> 5-FU (Figure 11). This result strongly indicates that 5-FU does not affect normal cellular metabolism required for the synthesis of α -amylase.

Effect of 5-FU on RNA Synthesis

The lack of an inhibitory effect of 5-FU on α -amylase synthesis might have been due to insufficient uptake of this drug by the tissue, thus precluding competition of endogenously formed 5-FU ribosyltriphosphate (5-FURTP) with UTP during RNA synthesis. This possibility was examined by measuring the effect of 5-FU on rRNA synthesis in the half-seeds. It has been well documented in animal cells (Wilkinson et al., 197; Hadjiolova et al., 1973; Wilkinson and Pitot, 1973) that 5-FU inhibits the processing of precursors of rRNA and thus the formation of new rRNA molecules. In soybean, 5-FU also inhibits the appearance of rRNA (Key, 1966). An effect of 5-FU on rRNA synthesis in the barley half-seeds would indicate that 5-FU was taken up by the aleurone tissue and that it competed with the endogenous pools of uracil metabolites.

Half-seeds were incubated for 2.5 days in H_2O or buffer, followed by incubation with ${}^{32}PO_4$ (inorganic) for 12 hr. 5-Fluorouracil was either absent, or present at 10^{-4} <u>M</u> or 10^{-2} <u>M</u> for all but the first 24 hr of incubation. After incubation, the starch was mechanically removed, RNA was isolated from the aleurone layers, purified, and applied to polyacrylamide gels for electrophoresis. The purified RNA Figure 11. 5-Fluorouracil concentration and α -amylase synthesis. A. Half-seeds of Betzes barley were incubated as in Figure 1A. B. Half-seeds of Betzes barley were incubated as in Figure 1B. For each treatment, triplicate flasks with 25 half-seeds each were incubated.



800

I



separat	
teristi	
assigne	
acids (:	
${ m Th}\epsilon$	
\underline{A}_{260} to	
into ale	
Table 1.	
⁵ -FU. W	
electrop	
tion of	
response	
activiti	
dividina	
of each	
These a	
ENA DI	
- puri:	
The	
eff.	
fiet.	
^{riclent} 1	
"UWEVEL,	
^{cissue} to	
^{synth} esis	
ጥ⊾	

^{when} the

separated into peaks of 28S, 18S, and 4 to 5S RNA, which is characteristic of eukaryotic RNA (Figure 12); the Svedberg units were assigned by analogy to those determined for other plant nucleic acids (Zwar and Jacobsen, 1972).

The RNA preparation contained 4 or 5% DNA, and the ratio of \underline{A}_{260} to \underline{A}_{280} was 1.88. The amounts of labeled phosphate incorporated into aleurone RNA at various concentrations of 5-FU are shown in Table 1. The incorporation of 32 P into RNA was clearly inhibited by 5-FU. When one \underline{A}_{260} unit of each RNA preparation was subjected to electrophoresis on polyacrylamide gels, a decrease in the incorporation of 32 P into each major RNA species was evident (Figure 13) in response to increasing concentrations of 5-FU. The specific radioactivities of each 28S, 18S or 4 to 5S species were calculated by dividing the total radioactivity in each peak by the total absorbancy of each peak after scanning the gels spectrophotometrically at 260 nm. These specific radioactivities are shown relative to that of labeled RNA purified from tissue incubated without 5-FU (Figure 14).

The synthesis of new molecules of the major RNA species was strongly inhibited by 10^{-2} <u>M</u> 5-FU, with 10^{-4} <u>M</u> 5-FU eliciting a lesser effect. Incorporation of radioactivity into 5 to 18S RNA was insufficient to detect any effect on synthesis of putative mRNA species. However, one can conclude that sufficient 5-FU entered the aleurone tissue to inhibit both rRNA and tRNA synthesis, and that α -amylase synthesis occurred even in the presence of 5-FU.

Purification of α -Amylase

The thermal stability of a protein is measured most reliably when the protein preparation is free from other contaminating molecules.

Figure 12. SDS-Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of RNA from barley aleurone layers. Aleurone layers were removed from half-seeds which had been incubated for 24 hr in H_2O , followed by 24 hr in buffer, and 12 hr in buffer plus ${}^{32}PO_4$. One \underline{A}_{260} unit (about 41.7 µg) of RNA was applied to the gel. A small peak of DNA also entered the gel.



1.

1.0





	32 _P in Medium	Specific Activity	Relative Specific Activity
Treatment ^a	(cpm per flask)	(cpm per µg RNA)	apo
no 5-FU	7.1 × 10 ⁸	2884	100.0
10 ⁻⁴ <u>M</u> 5-FU	7.1 x 10 ⁸	1524	52.8
10 ⁻² <u>M</u> 5-FU	7.1 x 10 ⁸	616	21.4
aHalf-see	ds of Betzes barley were	e incubated as in Figure 12.	After incubation, the starchy

barley
Betzes
of
layers
aleurone
γd
RNA
into
^{32}P
of
Incorporation
•
е Т
Tabl(

endosperm was removed and RNA was extracted from the aleurone layers.

Figure 13. Incorporation of 32 P into RNA species from aleurone tissue of Betzes barley: Effect of 5-FU. One <u>A</u>₂₆₀ unit (about 41.7 µg) was applied per gel. After electrophoresis on polyacrylamide gels, each gel was sliced, and the radioactivity per slice was determined. A. No 5-FU, 0.7 mm slices. B. 10^{-4} <u>M</u> 5-FU, 1.0 mm slices. C. 10^{-2} <u>M</u> 5-FU, 1.0 mm slices. Notice that the slices from (A) are thinner and thus have relatively fewer cpm per slice. The total radioactivity (cpm) in each peak is printed next to the peak.



Figure 14. Specific activities of the RNA species after treatment of half-seeds with 5-FU. The relative specific activity is the ratio of radioactivity (cpm) of 32 P per A₂₆₀ peak, relative to the specific activity of the RNA species from control (no 5-FU) tissue.



Figure 14

The reason for this is that 5-FU treatment of the aleurone tissue may have affected the synthesis and/or release of compounds other than α -amylase which may have resulted in there being different kinds and levels of contaminants in the enzyme solutions at the time the thermal stability was determined. Certain of the contaminants may have either affected the stability of the α -amylase or have also utilized the starch substrate. Some examples of substances which could interfere with the determination of the thermal stability of α -amylase, and the levels of which may have been especially affected by 5-FU treatment, are β -amylases, proteases, and relatively high concentrations of proteins or of polysaccharides.

 β -Amylase. The β -amylases become activated by proteases which are synthesized and released along with α -amylase (Jacobsen and Varner, 1967). β -Amylases are exo-hydrolases while α -amylases are endo-hydrolases. Since calcium stablizes α -amylase against thermal inactivation (Kneen et al., 1943), all of the calcium must be removed from the enzyme. In the *absence* of calcium, *both* α -amylase and β -amylase are unstable to heating. Thus, β -amylases would definitely interfere with determinations of the heat stability of α -amylase.

Proteases. Even trace amounts of protease could increase the apparent rate of enzyme inactivation during heating. If isozymes of α -amylase were differentially "inactivated" by proteases, multiphasic inactivation kinetics could be produced.

Other proteins. Carbohydrases, in addition to β -amylase, which utilize soluble starch as substrate, might also cause the appearance of altered heat stability of α -amylase which would manifest itself

through multi-phasic decay kinetics. Contamination by large amounts of protein (on the order of 1% w/v or more of the test solution) could decrease the activity of H_2^0 in the solution and thus decrease the rate of thermal inactivation. Such proteins could also bind to either the α -amylase or the starch substrate, or they could interfere with the renaturation of the α -amylase during cooling of the enzyme solution.

Polysaccharides. In the aleurone system, there are many sources of polysaccharide contamination, including the cell walls of the aleurone and starchy endosperm, the starch grains, and the glycogen used to precipitate the α -amylase. Because enzymes bound to their substrates are frequently more stable than when they are free, the presence of carbohydrate polymers could affect the stability of the α -amylase during heating.

Removal of *β*-Amylase

There are two ways to avoid the contamination of α -amylase by β -amylase. One would be to remove all of the starchy endosperm from the aleurone layer before placing the layer into medium which contained GA₃. For the starchy endosperm to be efficiently removed, it must have been "softened" during a suitable hydration period of at least 2 days of incubation in an aqueous medium. Although Carlson (1972) indicated he had used aleurone layers for his studies, I found that I could not prepare clean aleurone layers by incubating half-seeds for only 24 hr in H₂O as he had. Therefore, I used half-seeds, heavily contaminated with β -amylase, as a source of the α -amylase, but I employed a different method to eliminate that contaminant. β -Amylases are inactivated by heating the extract of the half-seeds

at 70 C for 15 min at pH 8.0, α -amylases are stable to this procedure, as long as the medium contains calcium. Therefore, a heat treatment was used to inactivate β -amylases. Following this, β -amylases should no longer bind to glycogen, permitting separation of the two amylases in the glycogen precipitation step.

Electrophoretic Homogeneity on SDS-Polyacrylamide Gels

1. α -Amylase was purified using Method I and was subjected to polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis using the method of Fairbanks et al. (1971) with modifications as indicated. This method leads to the separation of proteins according to their molecular weight. When purified α -amylase was subjected to electrophoresis, a single band of protein appeared following staining with Coomassie Brilliant Blue R (Figure 15). When compared to proteins of known molecular weights, this protein was calculated to have a molecular weight of about 41,400 daltons (Figure 16).

In some instances, prolonged storage (several months) of the stained gels in the de-staining solution led to the staining of a trace protein component with a molecular weight of about 21,000 daltons, or roughly one-half the molecular weight of α -amylase. The presence or absence of 5-FU in the incubation medium of the halfseeds had no effect on the presence or absence of this minor component on the gels. Data obtained in the second part of this dissertation indicated that the minor protein component did not derive from α -amylase. This contaminant represented less than 3% of the protein on the gels where it eventually became visible.

Figure 15. SDS-Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of purified α -amylase. The protein was applied to a polyacrylamide gel, and electrophoresis was performed according to the method of Fairbanks et al. (1971). The gel was scanned at <u>A₅₆₀</u> after staining with Coomassie Brilliant Blue R.



Figure 15

ì

2. When the procedure of Laemmli (1970) was used for electrophoresis of denatured α -amylase on polyacrylamide gels, two additional bands of protein were evident (Figure 17). By comparison, crude malt α -amylase from Sigma was low in α -amylolytic activity and contained very little of the band of α -amylase protein. In the latter case, two bands of protein predominated, which had mobilities similar to those of the "additional" bands of protein mentioned above (Figure 17).

Since the electrophoresis of the purified α -amylase by Fairbanks' method had not led to the separation of these two additional proteins, and since the Fairbanks method uses strong denaturing conditions which are designed to severely inhibit proteolysis, it appeared that the two additional proteins may have been derived from hydrolysis of α -amylase. This is supported by the observation that no proteins from the purified α -amylase were retarded by a column of Bio-Gel P-30 which theoretically should have retarded these smaller proteins. The origin of these two additional protein bands was not investigated further. If these bands were produced as a result of proteolysis during the denaturation of protein prior to electrophoresis, this could have meant that a trace amount of protease was present in the final α -amylase preparations. However, as will be discussed later, no hydrolysis of the α -amylase occurred in the absence of SDS when calcium-free α -amylase was heated to 60 C in the thermal denaturation experiments.

3. If the purified protein was electrophoresed on polyacrylamide gels prepared by the method of Ingle (1968), five bands of protein could be separated (Figure 18). This method separates "native" proteins and leads one to conclude that the α -amylases, which have

Figure 16. Mobilities of protein standards in polyacrylamide gels prepared as in Figure 15. The mobility of α -amylase under these conditions was 0.556, relative to Pyronin Y. The standards used were: 1) bovine serum albumin, 2) ovalbumin, 3) horse liver alcohol dehydrogenase, 4) aldolase, 5) yeast alcohol dehydrogenase, 6) glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, 7) chymotrypsinogen, and 8) cytochrome c from horse heart.





Figure 17. Electrophoresis of α -amylase using the method of Laemmli (1970). Protein samples were prepared by adding first 8 <u>M</u> urea and then the protein to a boiling solution of SDS, mercaptoethanol, and buffer. The solid line represents purified α -amylase from Betzes barley half-seeds, while the dashed line represents the soluble protein in barley malt amylase from Sigma. The gels were stained for protein and were scanned at 560 nm.



Figure 17

ì.

Figure 18. Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of α -amylase without SDS. Half-seeds were incubated as in Figure 1B, then the α -amylase was purified and the protein components were separated by electrophoresis using non-denaturing conditions. The amount of protein applied to each gel varied. A. No 5-FU. B. 10^{-4} M 5-FU. C. 10^{-2} M 5-FU.



۰.

approximately the same molecular weight, differ in their net charges. The amylase in these polyacrylamide gels was still active after electrophoresis, as was shown by the following test. The gels were sliced with a razor blade, and each slice was placed in a petri plate containing a mixture of starch and agar. After 20 hr, the gel slices were removed, and the plates were flooded with an I_2/KI solution which turned the plates blue except for where α -amylase had diffused into the starch-agar and had hydrolyzed the starch. The region of the polyacrylamide gel which contained protein also contained α -amylase activity. However, the isozymes were not sufficiently separated to test each protein band individually for α -amylase activity.

Removal of Carbohydrate

After the α -amylase-glycogen complex was resuspended and incubated in Trisca buffer, it was no longer pelletable by centrifugation at 6000 g for 10 min. However, the glycogen had probably not been completely hydrolyzed by the bound α -amylase. In later experiments with α -amylase from Himalaya barley seeds as little as 10% ethanol again precipitated the α -amylase from the supernatant solution as a carbohydrate- α -amylase complex, but 5% ethanol did not. The hydrolysis products of glycogen could not be removed from the solution by dialysis. Interestingly, glucose was not the only sugar residue present in this mixture. Gas-chromatographic analysis established the presence of arabinose residues, which may have originated from the aleurone cell walls (Jones and Albersheim, 1972), in addition to the glucose residues.

The neutral carbohydrate polymers were removed by column chromatography using DEAE-cellulose. The carbohydrate was eluted from the

column in the first column volume of Trisca buffer. Following this, the enzyme was eluted with a gradient of sodium chloride in Trisca (Figure 4). The fractions with α -amylolytic activity did not react with the anthrone reagent.

The Loyter and Schramm Purification Procedure

Carlson (1972) purified barley α -amylase by the method of Loyter and Schramm (1962) designed for the purification of pancreatic α -amylase.^{*} I attempted to use this procedure so that Carlson's and my methods of purification could be compared. A minor modification was necessary in the early stages of purification, because the barley α -amylase was secreted into a medium containing CaCl₂ which led to precipitation of the phosphate buffer which Loyter and Schramm had used during homogenization of their tissue. The addition of 0.012 <u>M</u> phosphate buffer (pH 6.9), as required by Loyter and Schramm, was therefore insufficient to change the pH of the homogenate. Instead, dibasic potassium phosphate was used to titrate the homogenate to

An outline of the procedure of Loyter and Schramm (1962) is included here for comparison to the methods employed in this dissertation. Commercial pancreatin (9 g) was homogenized in 40% ethanol containing 12 mM phosphate buffer, pH 7.9, 4 mM NaCl, and 3 mM CaCl₂, and the precipitate was removed. The pH was changed to 8.0, glycogen was added to bind the α -amylase, and the amylase-glycogen complex was pelleted by centrifugation. The pellet was resuspended in pH 6.9 buffer and incubated for 1 hr at 25 C. A small precipitate could be removed by centrifugation at pH 8.5 at 20 C. The α -amylase was precipitated at pH 7.0 by incubating the solution at 0 C for 30 min. The enzyme precipitate was resuspended in glycine-NaOH buffer (pH 10.0) and passed down a column of charcoal and celite which adsorbed contaminating carbohydrates. The eluted a-amylase was precipitated by acetone followed by ethanol-ether at -10 C. The enzyme was resuspended in distilled H₂O, the pH was changed to 6.5 with NH4OH, and a lipid precipitate was removed. After a second acetone and ethanol-ether precipitation, a phosphate-CaCl2 buffer (pH 6.8) was added and the enzyme, at a protein concentration of 3%, crystallized spontaneously within 2 days.

pH 6.9. This resulted in the formation of a large precipitate of calcium phosphate before pH 6.9 was attained. Certain problems arose later in the procedure for which I could find no solution, however, These problems involved (i) the difficulty of precipitating α -amylase from the resuspended glycogen-amylase mixture, (ii) the lability of the α -amylase in the pH-10 buffer used during chromatography on the charcoal-celite column, and (iii) the difficulty of removing α -amylase from the charcoal-celite column. With regard to point (i). the α -amylase which I had prepared could not be precipitated by adjusting the pH of the digested glycogen-amylase mixture to 7.0 and by placing the solution at 0 C for 30 min. Even when left at 0 C overnight, the α -amylase which I had prepared did not precipitate. This presented certain difficulties in rapidly changing the buffering solution to the glycine-NaOH buffer (pH 10.0). As can be seen in Figure 6, α -amylase was quite unstable at pH 10.0. Forty percent of the enzyme activity was lost after 3 hr of incubation at that pH. The purified a-amylase was split into two samples, and the pH of each was adjusted to 10.0 by slightly different means.

Sample A (see Materials and Methods) was applied to a short charcoal-celite column (1.8 cm wide x 1.4 cm long) immediately after its pH had been changed to 10.0. This sample contained 320 units of activity. An attempt to remove α -amylase from the charcoal column was made by the further addition of glycine-NaOH buffer (10 mM, pH 10.0) to the column. Fractions of 2 ml were collected at a flow rate of 1 ml min⁻¹. After five fractions were collected, the pH of each fraction was lowered to 7.0 by the addition of 0.2 <u>M</u> acetic acid. Although Loyter and Schramm (1962) reported that 70% of the pancreatic α -amylase could be removed in the second and third column volumes of

buffer, the barley α -amylase was not removed by 50 column volumes. Ovalbumin was then added to the column in an attempt to displace competitively the α -amylase from the charcoal, but again no enzyme was eluted.

Sample B (420 units) was applied to an even smaller column containing 0.5 ml of charcoal-celite. Again no α -amylase could be recovered, although 200 ml of buffer were used to wash the column. Increasing the ionic strength of the buffer 10-fold or adding Triton X-100 to the elution buffer were equally ineffective.

These results precluded the possibility of a direct comparison between α -amylase as prepared by Carlson and α -amylase prepared by the method which I have reported (Method I). The α -amylase could not be precipitated at 0 C at pH 7.0, it was unstable at pH 10.0, the pH of the elution buffer from the charcoal column, and it could not be removed from the charcoal column.

It is not altogether clear that the α -amylase purified by Carlson was a pure preparation of α -amylase. Although he indicated that aleurone layers were used for his studies, there is reason to believe that these layers were not completely free of starchy endosperm. It is likely that his final enzyme preparation was contaminated by proteins originating from the starchy endosperm (such as β -amylase) which would bind to glycogen.

In one experiment, aleurone layers were isolated after 3 days of incubation on moist sea sand (Chrispeels and Varner, 1967). The layers were incubated for 24 hr on a shaker in Acca medium containing 1 μ M_GA₃. Following this the α -amylase was purified by the Loyter and Schramm method as far as the glycogen precipitation step and subsequent incubation to release the α -amylase. This preparation was

subjected to electrophoresis on polyacrylamide gels (Fairbanks method) and was found to contain only one protein band. Thus if Carlson was able to obtain very clean aleurone layers, it was possible that his enzyme preparation had been fairly pure. The purity of his final α -amylase preparation must therefore have depended on his ability to remove all of the starchy endosperm. Because I found it impossible to carry out the entire Loyter and Schramm purification procedure, I could not determine which of the α -amylase isozymes would have been released in the final steps of that method.

Yield of a-Amylase During Purification

The final recovery of α -amylase activity was 20-25% of the total activity in the original solution. A flow diagram is included to indicate the fate of the enzyme during the purification procedure (Figure 19). The major loss of activity occurred because of inactivation of some of the enzyme by the addition of ethanol. Some of the α -amylase was also not precipitated by glycogen, but much of that activity could be precipitated by addition of more glycogen.

The two glycogen-amylase hydrolysates were combined, and the solution was applied to a DEAE-cellulose column. Two peaks of activity were eluted, the first containing 22% and the second 10% of the original activity. In order to determine the effect of removing the calcium from the enzyme in each peak, the fractions constituting each peak were concentrated and chromatographed separately on a column of Sephadex G-25 equilibrated in 1 mM EGTA and 5 mM Tris at pH 8.0. The solutions were recovered with yields of 19% and 9%, respectively, and a combined yield of 28%. Normally, the α -amylasecontaining fractions were combined after the DEAE-cellulose chromatography step.

Figure 19. Flow diagram for the purification of α -amylase. The α -amylase was purified by Method I. Some additional steps are included to test procedures during which the enzyme activity might be lost. The numbers under many of the entries refer to the percent of the original amylase activity which was represented in that fraction. Footnotes are included under the diagram.



Figure 19



^aAn equivalent amount of glycogen (as at Step 5) was added a second time.

^bThe glycogen/ amylase complex was suspended in Trisca for 1 to 2 min, then ethanol was added until it reached a concentration of 40%.

> ^CTogether, these must account for 10.0% of the total. ^dAquacide II was used.

> > Figure 19, continued

I Sozyme Recovery

It was important to establish whether any of the α -amylase iso-Zymes might have been lost during the purification of the enzyme. α -Amylase was purified from Betzes barley, following Method I, and the isozymes were separated by electrophoresis on agar slab gels (Figure 20). The presence of the various isozymes was monitored at each step during the purification. At each step the pattern of isozymes was essentially unchanged, except that electrophoresis of the original solution did not separate the isozymes as clearly as did electrophoresis of the less crude preparations.

The preparations routinely examined were (a) the original, crude homogenate, (b) the solution after titration to pH 8.0, (c) the solution after heat treatment at 70 C for 15 min, (d) the solution after DEAE-cellulose chromatography, and occasionally (e) the solution after the removal of calcium.

The α -amylase activity on the agar gels separated into six bands. The active regions were those which remained clear after incubation of the slab with a starch solution prior to staining the gel with I_2KI . The original solution also contained three or four additional bands which moved more rapidly toward the cathode and which were suspected to be β -amylases on the basis of their incomplete hydrolysis of the starch substrate, their disappearance after heat treatment at 70 C, and the fact that their mobilities were close to those of β -amylases from Himalaya barley (Jacobsen et al., 1970).

The α -amylases of peak I from the DEAE-cellulose chromatography migrated the farthest and those of Peak II migrated more slowly during the electrophoresis.

Figure 20. Separation of α -amylase on agar slab gels. After electrophoresis, the gels were stained for α -amylase activity. Top: diagrammatic sketch; zones 1-6 are α -amylases, zones 7-10 are believed to be β -amylases. (A) original mixture of homogenate plus medium, (B) purified α -amylase. Bottom: photographs of actual slab gels; I. The original mixture of medium and homogenate, left to right are alternating pairs of control and 1 mM 5-FU treatments at increasing protein concentrations; II. After pH 8.0 treatment, with better resolution of zones 7 to 10; left to right are control (at two concentrations) and 1 mM 5-FU (two concentrations); III. Purified α -amylase, left to right are four samples of control then four of 1 mM 5-FU. The control is without 5-FU treatment.


Figure 20

Effects of 5-FU on Molecular Weight and Isozyme Content of α-Amylase

Molecular Weight

Half-seeds were imbibed with concentrations of 5-FU between 10^{-5} and 10^{-2} <u>M</u>, after which 10^{-6} <u>M</u> GA₃ was added to the 5-FUcontaining solutions for 36 hr. The α -amylases which were subsequently purified had the same molecular weights, and no enzyme with altered molecular weight was generated.

Isozyme Composition

Half-seeds were imbibed as in Figure 1A or 1B using zero, 10^{-4} <u>M</u>, or 10^{-3} <u>M</u> 5-FU. The isozymes were separated in agar slab gels. Because two of the isozymes predominated in the mixture, several different dilutions of the α -amylase had to be examined for the real pattern of isozymes to be understood. 5-Fluorouracil was found to have no effect on the pattern of isozymes present in the crude homogenate, in the solutions at subsequent purification steps, or in the final solutions after the removal of calcium (Figure 20).

In addition the amylase was separated into isozymes and stained for protein with Coomassie Brilliant Blue R after electrophoresis on acrylamide gels according to Ingle's method (Figure 18). In one case the half-seeds were incubated without 5-FU and in the others in the presence of 10^{-4} <u>M</u> or 10^{-2} <u>M</u> 5-FU. The relative optical densities of the protein bands appeared to be identical despite the 5-FU treatment. This is of some significance because the isozyme activities on the agar gels only present a qualitative measure of the relative enzyme activities, while staining with Coomassie Blue dye indicates in a more quantitative way that the amounts of protein in each band

maintained the same ratio, despite the 5-FU treatment. This supports the conclusion that 5-FU had no effect on the composition of isozymes which were recovered after purification of the α -amylase.

Recovery of Activity and Specific Activity of α -Amylase During Purification

Half-seeds were incubated as in Figure 1B in buffer without 5-FU or with 5-FU at concentrations between 10^{-5} and 10^{-2} M. These concentrations of 5-FU had had little effect on the amount of α -amylase which was synthesized by the half-seeds (Figure 11B). The homogenate and medium from each of the 5-FU treatments were pooled and the recovery and specific activity of the α -amylase was determined at each purification step. The amount of α -amylase activity recovered from each 5-FU treatment at each purification step is shown in Figure 21. Thus, the percent recovery after glycogen precipitation, for example, has been calculated as the activity after precipitation divided by the activity before the precipitation step. 5-Fluorouracil had little effect on the recovery of α -amylase during the purification of the enzyme. Changing the pH of the original homogenate to pH 8.0 may have the greatest differential effect on the α -amylase activities. However, because only one sample (of 75 half-seeds) was used for each determination, it is difficult to conclude whether these differences were significant.

The effect of the 5-FU treatments on the specific activities of the enzyme is shown in Figure 22. It should be recalled that, except for the case of the most purified α -amylase, differences in specific activity may be based on differences in the amount of contaminating protein present rather than in any changes in the amount of α -amylase activity recovered. At concentrations of 5-FU greater than 10⁻³ M,

Figure 21. Effect of 5-FU treatment on the recovery of α -amylase activity during purification. The percent recovery of α -amylase at each individual stage in the purification (ordinate) was calculated as the activity at the end of the step divided by the activity at the end of the previous step multiplied by 100. The original solutions were those collected from the material represented in Figure 11B.



Figure 22. Specific activities of α -amylase at each stage of purification. The α -amylase collected from the half-seeds represented in Figure 11B was purified and the specific activity of the α -amylase was determined as a function of the stage of purification. BSA was used as a protein standard. For the first three curves, the protein sample was chromatographed on a cellulose thin layer plate before the protein assay was performed. Crude homogenate and medium, Δ ; after pH change to pH 8.0, x; after 70 C treatment, \bullet ; after glycogen precipitation and hydrolysis, \Box ; after DEAE-cellulose chromatography, O.





the final specific activity was less than that of the control α -amylase. Again, this may or may not be significant, but it may correlate with the lower recovery of α -amylase after the change of pH to 8.0 as seen in Figure 21, or the small decrease in the amount of α -amylase synthesized at the higher concentrations of 5-FU. By the methods used to separate and identify the α -amylase isozymes, however, there was no indication that such differences, if real, were caused by the loss of a particular isozyme.

The Thermal Denaturation Process: General Aspects

Effect of Calcium

When calcium was present in the crude homogenate, the enzyme was not inactivated by heating it at 70 C for 15 min if the pH of the solution had been adjusted to 8.0. The purified enzyme was also stabilized by the presence of calcium in the solution (Figure 23). If calcium was removed from the solution by passing the solution over a Bio-Gel P-30 column equilibrated in 1 mM EGTA and 5 mM Tris (pH 8.0), the α -amylase lost 99% of its activity after incubation for 20 min at 54 C. However, addition of calcium to a final concentration of 0.33 M prevented the inactivation of the enzyme during the 40-min test period. For this reason, the thermal denaturation process could be stopped by the addition of the heated sample to one-half of that volume of $1 \leq M CaCl_2$ in an ice-chilled vial. The high concentration of $CaCl_2$ did not itself inactivate the α -amylase but had the added advantage of rapidly binding to any EGTA present in the final solution. Since the thermal inactivation process exhibited log-linear decay kinetics over as much as four decades, I

Figure 23. Effect of calcium on the rate of thermal denaturation of purified α -amylase. α -Amylase was heated at 54 C in the presence or absence of 0.33 <u>M</u> CaCl₂. The α -amylase was purified by Method I. Calcium was removed with the aid of a Bio-Gel P-30 column equilibrated in 1 <u>mM</u> EGTA with 5 <u>mM</u> Tris, pH 8.0, and the sample was concentrated using Aquacide II. Control (no calcium), at 224 units per ml, \odot ; 0.33 <u>M</u> CaCl₂, at 335 units per ml, 0.



Figure 23

have assumed that calcium was effectively removed from the α -amylase by the EGTA de-salting column.

Effect of Protein Concentration

The rate of thermal inactivation of α -amylase should be independent of the concentration of the enzyme during the heat treatment at low concentrations of enzyme. If the decay rate was dependent on the concentration of enzyme, one would suspect that a second, "non-amylase" component was affecting the denaturation process. Table 2 records the effect of diluting the enzyme solution with buffer on the amount of α -amylase activity remaining after 5 min of heating at 56 C. In the range of 50 to 500 enzyme units per ml, no significant effect of protein concentration on the degree of thermal inactivation was observed.

Test for Protease Activity

The removal of calcium from the α -amylase also makes the enzyme highly susceptible to hydrolysis by protease. Thus, it was necessary to examine whether α -amylase was hydrolyzed by traces of proteases present during the thermal denaturation treatment. If proteolysis had occurred, the apparent inactivation rate would be dependent on the activity of the protease and not the structure of the α -amylase. Samples of calcium-free α -amylase were subjected to SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (Fairbanks' method). The samples were examined before heating, or after 99% of the enzyme activity had been destroyed. The electrophoretic properties of the protein remained unchanged, indicating that no hydrolysis of the α -amylase had occurred during heat inactivation, and that the inactivation rate must have been

Treatment ^a	Initial Concentration, units/ ml	Activity Remaining, %
no 5-FU	503	9.01
	402	8.31
	30 2	9.07
	201	8.66
	101	8.89
	50	8.76
10 ⁻⁴ <u>M</u> 5-FU	493	8.97
	39 4	8.71
	296	9.14
	197	8.93
	98.6	9.16
	49.3	8.63

Table 2. Effect of protein concentration on the thermal denaturation of α -amylase

t.

^aHalf-seeds were incubated as in Figure 1A. After calcium was removed from the purified α -amylase, the enzyme was heated at 56 C for 5 min, and the remaining activity was determined.

dependent on heat-induced structural changes in the α -amylase molecules themselves.

Effect of 5-FU on the Thermal Stability of α -Amylase

The kinetics of thermal inactivation of α -amylase from tissues incubated either in the presence or in the absence of 5-FU are shown in Figure 24. For Figure 24A, half-seeds were incubated as in Figure 1A using 10^{-4} M 5-FU. These conditions were the same as those under which Carlson obtained α -amylase with the maximum decrease in thermal stability. It is clear that 5-FU had no effect on the thermal stability of the α -amylase. A second such experiment is shown in Figure 24B. This experiment differs from that of 24A in that a higher denaturation temperature (60 C as compared to 54 C) was used. In Figure 24C, a similar experiment is shown, except that the concentration of 5-FU had been raised to 10^{-2} M. In none of these experiments had the treatment of the half-seeds with 5-FU affected the thermal stability of the α -amylase. These results disagree with those reported by Carlson. Closer examination of Figure 24C shows that the denaturation rates of both the control and the 5-FU samples was more rapid than those of a comparable experiment shown in Figure 24B. The Aquacide II which was used to concentrate the samples was later found to have decreased the pH of the enzyme solutions, resulting in more rapid rates of thermal decay.

Thermal stability determinations were performed six times, using six separate preparations of α -amylases from 5-FU-treated half-seeds. Along with each α -amylase sample from 5-FU-treated tissue, a sample of α -amylase from control tissue was purified in parallel.

tration was 10^{-4} M. B. α -Amylase was prepared from half-seeds as in (A) above, except that two denaturation temperature was 60 C and the 5-FU concentration was 10^{-4} M. C. α -Amylase was obtained as in (A) above. Thermal denaturation was performed at 60 C. The 5-FU concentration Thermal denaturation of α -amylase from 5-FU-treated half-seeds. A. α -Amylase In the concentration was purified from half-seeds which had been incubated as in Figure IA. In the concentration steps, Aquacide II was utilized. The denaturation temperature was 54 C and the 5-FU concenglycogen precipitation steps were performed, and the a-amylase was pooled from these. The used for this experiment was 10^{-2} <u>M</u>. Control (no 5-FU), 0; 5-FU-treated, \bullet . Figure 24.





The three experiments above lead to the conclusion that the a-amylase from 5-FU-treated half-seeds was not significantly different from that of control half-seeds. Such experiments have been performed six times using a-amylases prepared from different batches of half-seeds. It should be recalled, however, that the incubation regime for these experiments was that shown in Figure 1A; i.e., the half-seeds were imbibed for 24 hr in water prior to addition of 5-FU. It may be argued that the seeds which I used were able to synthesize all of their α -amylase mRNA during that first day of incubation, while those which Carlson had used did not synthesize a-amylase mRNA in the course of the first day of incubation without 5-FU. In a final attempt to decrease the thermal stability of α -amylase by treatment with 5-FU, I isolated α -amylase from half-seeds which had been incubated continuously in 10^{-4} M 5-FU, as in Figure 1B. The $\alpha\text{-amylase}$ was purified, calcium was removed, and the enzyme was heated to 54 C. Again, the thermal inactivation kinetics were similar, although the slope of the denaturation curve was slightly less steep in the case of the $\alpha\text{-amylase}$ from 5-FU-treated half-seeds. The order of the curves was different than the order which was reported by Carlson, where the α -amylase from 5-FU-treated half-seeds was less stable than normal. The reason for the slight difference in α -amylase as seen in Figure 25 is not known.

Figure 25. Thermal denaturation of α -amylase: continuous incubation in 10^{-4} M 5-FU. Half-seeds were incubated as in Figure 1B and concentration of the α -amylase was achieved using Aquacide II. The denaturation temperature was 54 C. Control (no 5-FU), O; 5-FU treated, \bullet .



Figure 25

'n

DISCUSSION

Suitability of the α -Amylase Preparation for Studies of Thermal Inactivation Kinetics

The report by Carlson that α -amylase was rendered heat labile by the inclusion of 5-FU in the incubation medium for barley aleurone tissue (Carlson, 1972) has not been supported by this study. If 5-FU was able to affect the synthesis of proteins other than or in addition to α -amylase, artifacts could have been introduced which could have affected the analysis of the thermal stability characteristics of this isozymic enzyme system. Certain isozymes which may have been altered as a result of 5-FU treatment could have been lost during the purification of the α -amylase. This could have produced artificial differences in the kinetics of thermal inactivation if the isozymes had had different thermal stability properties. Alternatively, the co-purification of a second factor, which was present in different amounts in each solution of "purified" α -amylase, could have influenced the kinetics of thermal inactivation. It was therefore necessary to determine as closely as possible that isozymes of α -amylase had not been lost during the purification and that no factors had co-purified with the enzyme which would have affected its thermal stability.

The α -amylase synthesized by Betzes barley aleurone tissue was found to be heterogeneous, six isozyme species having been separated. During electrophoresis on SDS-polyacrylamide gels, the isozymes

co-migrated as one band of protein corresponding to a molecular weight of 41,400 daltons. A faint trace of a second component of 21,000 daltons was sometimes visible after the stained SDS-gels were stored for a long time. In the absence of calcium at least 99% of the purified enzyme was heat labile while in the presence of calcium the enzyme was stable to the same heat treatment (Figure 23).

The isozyme composition of the α -amylase was monitored throughout the purification process and was found to be unaltered as a result of purification or removal of calcium from the enzyme. The base analog 5-FU, which had little or no effect on α -amylase synthesis or secretion by the aleurone tissue, had no effect on the isozyme composition of the α -amylase, its molecular weight, or its purity.

Thus, the purification method which I selected for obtaining α -amylase must be considered to be at least as effective as that which was employed by Carlson (1972), although Carlson did not characterize the α -amylase purified by his procedures, and a direct comparison of the properties of our preparations cannot be made.

I was unable to purify α -amylase using the method which Carlson had employed (Loyter and Schramm, 1962). The α -amylase did not precipitate spontaneously in the cold at pH 7.0, it was unstable at pH 10.0, the pH of the charcoal column chromatography, and it bound irreversibly to or was inactivated by the charcoal. Although the α -amylase had to be purified by an alternative procedure, attempts were made to simulate Carlson's incubation conditions. Thus, the half-seeds were soaked by a batch method for one day before they were incubated in flasks on a shaker, and Betzes barley seeds were used instead of the more commonly studied Himalaya variety. In addition,

the aleurone tissue was homogenized and the homogenate was added to the medium (plus the extract of the starchy endosperm) before purification was begun.

Because Carlson did not heat-treat his original extract in the presence of calcium, it is probable that other proteins such as β -amylases were present in his preparations of purified α -amylase. This suggestion is made because aleurone layers cannot be scraped clean of starchy endosperm after one day of incubation in H₂O or buffer. Such proteins originating from the endosperm may have appeared to represent a second population of molecules with the capability of hydrolyzing starch, or they may have affected the rate of inactivation of the calcium-free α -amylase during the thermal denaturation experiments.

The identification of the isozymes of α -amylase which retained their activity after purification and removal of calcium was not a trivial requirement. Jacobsen et al. (1970) have shown that there are two types of α -amylases synthesized by Himalaya barley. One type was strongly affected by GA₃-treatment (a 12.1-fold increase), was unstable at pH 3.7 and bound calcium only weakly. The second type of α -amylase also produced amylose from starch, but it was stable at pH 3.7 and it tightly bound calcium. Unlike the first group, the second group of isozymes was less affected by GA₃, being increased only 2.6-fold by GA₃-treatment.

The α -amylases of Betzes barley undoubtedly exhibit such polymorphic behavior as well, leading Chandra (1974) to presume that Carlson (1972) may have only been able to remove the calcium from the isozymes which weakly bound the ion. The incomplete removal of calcium may have generated biphasic decay curves. Alternatively,

the calcium-free α -amylases in Carlson's solutions may have been partially inactivated before the thermal denaturation experiments were begun, or the charcoal-binding step may have selected for certain isozymes, again giving rise to a series of biphasic decay curves. It is easy to see that the thermal decay kinetics could depend on the relative proportions of the active isozymes which were present in each solution if traces of calcium were present.

To establish further that the α -amylases which I had purified were of sufficient purity for the thermal denaturation experiments, the thermal inactivation reaction was shown to occur as if it was a monomolecular reaction since the concentration of α -amylase, at concentrations of protein below 50 µg (BSA equivalents) per ml, had no effect upon the rate of the inactivation. In addition, the inactivation of α -amylase during heating was not due to proteolysis.

From the evidence described in this study no conclusion can be drawn concerning the timing of α -amylase mRNA synthesis. This is contrary to the conclusion of Carlson (1972) who, based on similar experiments with 5-FU, proposed that the α -amylase in RNA was produced both in the presence and absence of GA₂.

Use of 5-FU to Time the Synthesis of a-Amylase mRNA

Since treatment of the half-seeds with 5-FU did not cause the formation of a more thermolabile population of α -amylase molecules, one cannot make any conclusions concerning the timing of α -amylase mRNA synthesis in barley aleurone layers from the data which have been presented here. α -Amylase mRNA may have been produced before imbibition or, equally as likely, 5-FU may have been incorporated into nascent mRNA during the course of these experiments; but the

presence of substitutions of 5-FU in the mRNA may not have led to amino acid substitutions in the α -amylase.

5-Fluorouracil was also found to inhibit the synthesis of rRNA and tRNA in barley aleurone tissue without affecting the synthesis or release of $\alpha\text{-amylase}$ in response to $GA_{\gamma}\text{.}$ The synthesis of new species of rRNA and tRNA is therefore not required for the synthesis or release of α -amylase. These results agree with those of Jacobsen and Zwar (1974) that 15 mM 5-FU inhibited the synthesis of rRNA (90%) and tRNA (over 50%) by barley aleurone tissue (cv. Himalaya) during the first 16 hr of GA2-treatment with no concomitant inhibition of α -amylase synthesis. In a rat liver-system 14 C-5fluoroorotate (5-FO) was used as a more efficient precursor of 5-fluorouracil ribosylmonophosphate in RNA than 5-FU. The ¹⁴C-5-FO was incorporated into 45S RNA (r-preRNA) but not into 28S or 18S RNA (Wilkinson et al., 1971). In addition, 5-FU was shown to have no effect on the transcription or methylation of 45S RNA in rat liver (Wilkinson and Pitot, 1973). Therefore, 5-FU apparently affects the last steps of rRNA processing rather than inhibiting the synthesis of the original r-preRNA transcript.

Radioactively labeled 5-FU is also incorporated into polysomal mRNA of HeLa cells (Gleason and Fraenkel-Conrat, 1976), TMV-RNA in tobacco leaves (Mandel, 1969), and D-RNA from soybean (Key, 1966). In fact, the use of 5-FO has been proposed as a method to label mammalian mRNA specifically (Wilkinson et al., 1971). In barley aleurone tissue, 1 mM 5-FU had no effect on the labeling of 5S to 14S RNA by ³H-adenosine (Zwar and Jacobsen, 1972), indicating that 5-FU does not inhibit the synthesis of mRNA in this system.

No conclusive evidence has been obtained from studies of eukaryotes which would prove that the incorporation of 5-FU is responsible for the substitution of amino acids in the polypeptides of specific proteins. It has been hypothesized that the substitution of fluorine in the 5-position of uracil affects the ratio of the keto and enol forms of the pyrmidine by decreasing the pK of the pyrimidine in RNA in vivo, since poly(U) has a pK of 9.8 while poly(5-FU) has a pK of 8.1 (Mandel, 1969). The protein-synthesizing capacity of poly(U) and poly (5-FU) has been examined in vitro with a protein-synthesizing system from wheat germ. Poly(5-FU) was translated less efficiently than poly(U), but the 5-FU polymer was read exclusively as if it were a poly(U) message (Mandel, 1969). In contrast, the substitution of 5-FC in poly(C) elicited some unexpected changes in the aminoacid composition of the resultant polypeptides, indicating that 5-FC may have occasionally been read as U, and it was hypothesized that the infrequent converstion of 5-FU to 5-FC in vivo causes the mutagenic effects currently attributed to 5-FU (Gleason and Fraenkel-Conrat, 1976).

In some instances, treatment of bacterial cultures with 5-FU has produced phenocopies of the bacteria or of the bacteriophage infecting them. Such cases have provided the only unambiguous demonstrations that 5-FU can alter the phenotype of an organism by being incorporated into messenger or messenger-like RNA. Growth of *Escherichia coli* on 5-FU, for example, was effective in reversing the phenotypes of 17 out of 339 mutants of T_4 bacteriophage, the original mutations of which had arisen by the change of a single base in the viral RNA (Champe and Benzer, 1962). 5-Fluorouracil was also able to induce amber (nonsense) mutations in the RNA coding for



the coat protein of R17 bacteriophage, and these mutations could be suppressed if the 5-FU-mutants were subsequently grown on suppressor strains of the host (Tooze and Weber, 1967). Thus, a precedent for the induction of phenocopies by 5-FU treatment has been established in bacterial viruses, and the absence of such examples in eukaryotes may simply derive from the lack of well-defined eukaryotic systems in which the hypothesis can be tested. The results summarized here indicate that the induction of α -amylase synthesis by GA₃ in barley aleurone tissue does not provide a suitable eukaryotic system for such studies. SECTION II

INTRODUCTION

At least two carbohydrases are involved in the hydrolysis of starch reserves in the endosperm of barley grains. These are the α -amylases (E.C. 3.2.1.1) and the β -amylases (E.C. 3.2.1.2). The α -amylases randomly cleave the α -1,4-glucosyl linkages and are thus "endo"-enzymes. The reducing ends of their hydrolysis products are in the alpha configuration. α -Amylases are synthesized by the living aleurone layer in response to gibberellin, which originates in the germinating embryo (McLeod and Palmer, 1967). The embryo can be replaced by exogenous gibberellic acid (GA₃) which stimulates the synthesis and/or release of a number of hydrolases, including α -amylase, from isolated aleurone tissue (Yomo and Varner, 1966). α -Amylase constitutes the major protein synthesized in response to GA₂.

The β -amylases, on the other hand, cleave maltose (disaccharide) units sequentially from the non-reducing ends of α -1,4-glucans. They are thus "exo"-enzymes, yielding maltose units which are in the beta configuration. In wheat grains, β -amylases are synthesized during the maturation of the grain, but remain inactive until the embryo germinates. The β -amylases can be activated prematurely by incubation of the starchy endosperm with proteolytic enzymes or sulfhydryl reagents (Rowsell and Goad, 1962); in the germinating grain it seems likely that the proteases, which are synthesized by the aleurone tissue, are responsible for activation of β -amylases.

The barley aleurone system has been chosen as a model system for studying the action of gibberellic acid (Varner, 1964 and references therein). Since the synthesis and secretion of α -amylase are major events which are controlled by GA2, it would be useful to know the primary structure of the α -amylases from barley grains. Because many glycoproteins are destined for secretion or are sequestered from the ground cytoplasm of the cell (Winterburn and Phelps, 1972), I was particularly interested in determining whether the α -amylases were also glycoproteins. Perhaps the presence of a carbohydrate moiety could partially account for the remarkable stability of α -amylases to protease (Jacobsen and Varner, 1967) and heat (Kneen et al., 1943) in the presence of calcium. Such a study is complicated by the fact that the α -amylases from different varieties of barley grains are electrophoretically heterogeneous (Jacobsen et al., 1970; Frydenberg and Nielsen, 1965; Bøg-Hansen and Daussant, 1974; Tanaka and Akayawa, 1970) and that at least two antigenically different types of a-amylase are produced in those systems where antibody SPecificity has been studied (Jacobsen and Knox, 1973; Daussant et al., 1974). With this underlying heterogeneity in mind, the average amino acid and carbohydrate composition of the a-amylase secreted by barley grains has been analyzed and is described in the following.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Incubation of Grains for α -Amylase Purification

Barley seeds (Hordeum vulgare L. cv. Himalaya) were obtained from the Agronomy Club at Washington State University in Pullman, Washington, USA. One hundred sixty grams of the grains were surface sterilized by partially evacuating them for 30 min in 1% sodium hypochlorite in a stoppered flask which was attached to a water aspirator. The grains were rinsed several times with sterile, distilled H_2^0 until 2 liters of H_2^0 had been used. The grains were distributed into five 1-liter flasks containing 200 ml of incubation medium each, and were incubated for 4.5 days in the dark. The barley grains were aerated by shaking the flasks on a rotary shaker. The incubation medium contained 10 mM succinate buffer (pH 5.3), 20 mM CaCl₂, 0.1% chloramphenicol, and 10 μ M GA₃. At the end of the incubation period, some roots had emerged from the seed, and the maximum length of these was about 6 mm.

Purification of *a*-Amylase

After incubation of the grains, the medium was collected by decantation. The grains were further incubated for 30 min with an additional 100 ml per flask of 1 mM sodium acetate buffer, pH 4.8, with 200 mM CaCl₂. The high concentration of CaCl₂ was used to wash adsorbed α -amylase from the starchy endosperm and cell walls of the aleurone layer (Varner and Mense, 1972). This wash was added to the

original medium. The grains were subsequently pressed with a pestle in a mortar to remove the starchy endosperm from the aleurone layer. The aleurone and extruded starch were then combined with the medium and wash, and $1 \text{ M} \text{ CaCl}_2$ was added to yield a final concentration of 200 mM. The aleurone, starch, medium, and wash were incubated for another 2 hr at room temperature on a reciprocating shaker. At this point, the extract contained intact aleurone tissue, whole embryos, and the diluted components of the starchy endosperm. The extract was filtered through cheesecloth and then through glass wool, and the filtrate was centrifuged at 5900 g for 20 min. The supernatant solution contained about 200,000 units of α -amylase activity (see Materials and Methods of Part I of this dissertation for a description of the assay of α -amylase and the definition of α -amylase units).

The cloudy supernatant solution was adjusted to pH 8.0 by the addition of 0.1 <u>M</u> tris base, and was centrifuged at 5900 <u>g</u> for 30 min in a refrigerated centrifuge (0 to 4 C). The resultant supernatant fraction was heated in two 2-liter flasks to 70 C. The total heating time was 20 min, about 7 min being required to reach 70 C. At 53 C, a precipitate of denatured protein began to form. After heating, the precipitate was removed by centrifugation at 5900 <u>g</u> for 30 min. Following this treatment, about 150,000 units of α -amylase remained in the supernatant solution.

Cold ethanol was added to the soluble fraction to give a final concentration of 40%, and this solution was stored in the cold overnight. The mixture was subsequently centrifuged at 6900 <u>g</u> for 30 min, and the pellet was discarded. Deproteinized glycogen (1.6%) was added to the cold supernatant fraction in the proportion of 1 μ 1 per 7 units of α -amylase. At the end of 18 min of constant stirring,

the solution was centrifuged at 5900 <u>g</u> for 30 min. The supernatant solution was removed, and the pellets were suspended in a buffer containing 5 mM tris, pH 8.0, and 5 mM CaCl₂. A total of 12 ml were used to collect the α -amylase-glycogen complex.

Preparation of ¹⁴C-Labeled α-Amylase from Aleurone Layers

Aleurone layers (200) were separated from barley grains which had been de-embryonated and imbibed under sterile conditions on sand for 3 days (Chrispeels and Varner, 1967). The aleurone layers were transferred to four 125-ml flasks containing 8 ml each of 20 mM succinate buffer (pH 5.3), 0.2 M CaCl₂, 0.1% chloramphenicol, 1 µM GA₂, and 50 μ Ci ¹⁴C-(U)L-leucine (286 mCi/mmole). The aleurone layers were incubated at 25 C for 24 hr on a reciprocating shaker. The medium was decanted, and diluted to 50 ml with 0.2 M CaCl. The pH was adjusted to 8.0 with 0.1 M tris base, and the solution was heated to 70 C for 20 min. The solution was centrifuged at 13,000 g for 5 min, and the precipitate was discarded. Cold ethanol was added to a final concentration of 35%, and after 1 hr of incubation in the cold the solution was centrifuged at 13,000 g for 10 min. One milliliter of 1.6% glycogen was added, and the glycogen-amylase complex was removed by a second centrifugation. The pellet was resuspended in 1 ml of 5 mM tris-HCl buffer (pH 8.0) with 5 mM CaCl₂. Fifteen hundred units of a-amylase were recovered.

Incubation of Grains on Agar

In order to estimate the time required for barley grains to synthesize and release a maximal amount of α -amylase, the grains were incubated on agar for different periods of time, and the distribution of α -amylases in the tissues was determined. Grains were nicked with

a scalpel blade at the end distal to the embryo, surface sterilized with 1% sodium hypochlorite, and rinsed with sterile distilled H₂O. The grains were placed on 2% agar and were incubated at 27 C in the dark. At the designated times, grains were slit open and the starchy endosperm tissue was removed and ground in 1 ml of 0.2 M CaCl₂. To this homogenate was added four 1-ml H_0^0 washes of the aleurone layers and two l-ml H_0^0 washes of the portions of the embryo still in the seeds. All of the amylase collected by this method was termed "released" amylase. The agar was not assayed for α -amylase activity. The H₂O-washed aleurone layers were briefly rinsed three times in 10 ml of distilled $H_{2}O$ and were incubated twice successively for 5 min in 2-ml portions of 0.2 <u>M</u> CaCl₂. The α -amylase thus released was termed "cell-wall" amylase. The aleurone layers were further incubated for 10 min in 1 mM HCl to inactivate the remaining α -amylase, were rinsed three times in 10 ml of distilled H₂O, and the layers were homogenized with a mortar and pestle and acid-washed sea sand in 1 ml of 1 mM sodium acetate buffer, pH 4.8, containing 0.2 M CaCl₂. Three 1-ml washes (same buffer solution) of the mortar and pestle were added to the homogenate. This amylase activity was termed "tissue" amylase.

Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis

Proteins were separated electrophoretically by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. The method of Fairbanks et al. (1971) was used with the slight modifications described in Part I of this dissertation. For analytical separations, 8 to 10 units of α -amylase activity were used per gel. For preparative separations, about 100 units of α -amylase or up to 400 µg of total proteins were added per gel. The

large amount of protein present in the preparative gels caused the proteins to have increased mobility. Thus, attempts to localize proteins in unstained gels on the basis of the relative mobility of the proteins after analytical separation was not reliable. Instead, the proteins in preparative gels were localized directly by a careful visual examination made possible by the refractile nature of the protein in the gel at the leading edge of the protein band. Protein was eluted from the gels in the following way. Portions of the gels which contained the protein in question were excised and all gel pieces containing the same protein band were placed in line in an empty gel tube. Up to three segments were placed in each tube. In order to exclude bubbles, a drop of electrophoresis buffer was placed between the gel pieces. The gel pieces were pushed to the very bottom of the gel tube. A 10-cm piece of dialysis tubing was closed at one end with a dialysis bag clip (National Scientific, Cleveland, OH, USA), 1 ml of electrophoresis buffer was pipetted into it, and the gel tube was gently slid to the bottom of the dialysis bag. A rubber band was used to fasten the upper portion of the bag to the gel tube. The rubber band was wrapped around the bag and tube about 3 cm above the closed end of the dialysis bag. Buffer was added to the lower reservoir of the electrophoresis apparatus to a height equal to that of the buffer in the dialysis bag when the tubes were in place. Next, buffer was added to the upper reservoir, and 50 µl of the buffer-tracker solution was placed on top of each gel. The tracker dye was pyronin Y. Up to 100 volts were applied to the total system for twice the time required for the tracker to be eluted from the end of the gel. (The mobility of α -amylase relative to the tracker dye is greater than 0.5).

Gels were stained for protein using Coomassie Brilliant Blue R250 and were scanned at 560 nm. Radioactivity in the gels was determined by cutting the gels into 1-cm pieces, drying the pieces under a heat lamp, and combusting them using a Packard Tri-Carb Sample Oxidizer (Model 306).

Staining of Gels for Carbohydrate

The SDS-polyacrylamide gels were stained for carbohydrate by the method of Fairbanks (1971) using a periodate-Schiff reaction or by the method of Eckhardt et al. (1976) which is based on the transfer of a dansyl group from dansyl hydrazine to periodate-oxidized carbohydrates. The gels which were stained with the Schiff reagent were scanned spectrophotometrically at 560 nm. Gels which were exposed to the dansyl hydrazine were photographed using a 350 nm light source, a Whatman 2D filter and Kodak "Kodalith" film. The light source (four black-light tubes) was held 12 to 14 inches from the gels and the film was exposed for 10 min at f/5.6.

Isoelectric Focusing

Isoelectric focusing was accomplished in a preparative column containing 110 ml of liquid. A gradient was formed in the column by mixing 48.5 g glycerol, 14.25 g H_2^0 and 2.25 ml of a 40% stock of Ampholines (LKB) with a solution of 0.75 ml of the Ampholine stock plus the sample in a total volume of 55 ml (H_2^0 was used to adjust the volume). The sample initially contained 22,000 units of α -amylase activity; 21% of that activity was recovered after focusing. The column was cooled at 8 C, the initial voltage was 600 volts, and 2.5 days were allowed for focusing to be completed. The pH of each fraction subsequently collected was measured by equilibrating the
tubes in an ice-bath and measuring the pH after 1 min of electrode immersion in each sample.

Ammonium-Sulfate Fractionation

Protein was fractionated by precipitation with ammonium sulfate (Mann Research Laboratories, special enzyme grade) at 0 C. After a suitable incubation period, precipitates were removed by centrifugation at 0 to 2 C for 30 min at 29,000 g. Before determination of α -amylase activity or protein content, the pellets were dissolved in 1 ml of Trisca buffer (5 mM tris buffer, pH 8.0, and 5 mM CaCl₂) and dialyzed for 40 hr against cold (about 7 C) Trisca.

Amino Acid Analysis

Protein was eluted electrophoretically from preparative SDSpolyacrylamide gels. The protein solution was carefully removed from the dialysis bag with a Pasteur pipette and transferred to a preweighed test tube (Pyrex, 13 x 100 mm). The dialysis bag was rinsed once with a minimum volume (100 μ 1) of distilled H₂O, and the rinse was added to the test tube. Trichloroacetic acid (TCA) was added from a 100% (w/v) stock solution (i.e., 100 g TCA made up to 100 ml with $H_2^{(0)}$ to a final concentration of 20%. At 15% TCA, a precipitate formed but 20% TCA was used to insure that all of the protein was precipitated. After 60 min at room temperature, the solution was centrifuged using an International Clinical Centrifuge at low speed (a setting of '2' indicating 500 rpm). The supernatant solution was removed with a Pasteur pipette, but not completely, and 1 ml of 95% ethanol (re-distilled) was added to the precipitate. After 15 min at room temperature, the centrifugation was repeated. The pellet was not suspended after addition of ethanol, but was washed once more

with 1 ml of 95% ethanol and then three times with 4 ml each of 95% ethanol. After each rinse, the sample was centrifuged. This procedure removed SDS, the electrophoresis buffer, and TCA. The final pellet was carefully dried under a stream of nitrogen. The pellet, upon drying, separated from the test tube and could be weighed on a sensitive balance to give an estimate of the maximum weight of protein present in the pellet. The pellet was carefully returned to the test tube to which 0.6 ml of constant boiling HCl was added. The tube was flushed with nitrogen for 1 min without placing the needle attached to the nitrogen line directly into the acid solution. The tube was guickly sealed with the aid of a gas-oxygen torch and incubated in a heating block at 107 C for 18 hr. Thereafter, the tube was cooled to room temperature and cracked open. The constant boiling HCl was evaporated to dryness at 50 C under a stream of nitrogen. The residue was resuspended in 200 to 500 μ l of 0.01 N HCl, and was frozen or was used directly for amino acid analysis. Amino acid analysis was performed using a Technicon system (Technicon Corporation, Tarrytown, NY, USA) as modified by Lamport (1969). The Chromo-Beads ion exchange column (Type C-2, 0.6 x 70 cm) was eluted under pressure with buffer which was applied as a gradient of increasing pH and ionic strenth. The column effluent was monitored at 570 nm and 440 nm, after it was mixed with ninhydrin reagent. For best results 60 to 100 µg of protein hydrolysate were applied to each column per determination. Three or four determinations were made for each protein analyzed. The amounts of each amino acid were determined relative to 100 nmoles of norleucine. The values were corrected by comparison to the color intensities of known amounts of standard

amino acids recovered from the columns. Tryptophan was destroyed by this procedure and yields of cysteine were not reliable. Glutamine was converted to glutamate and asparagine to aspartate.

Carbohydrate Analysis

Sugars in glycoproteins were identified and quantitated by gas chromatography. A glass column packed with a support of Gas Chrom-Q which was coated with SE 30 (Applied Science Laboratories, Inc., State College, PA, USA) was used to separate sugars as their methylglycosides after trimethylsilylation (Bhatti et al., 1970). The following sugars were used as standards: arabinose, rhamnose, fucose, xylose, mannose, galactose, glucose, N-acetyl glucosamine, N-acetyl galactosamine, and sialic acid. The internal standard was mannitol at 100 nmoles per sample. The detection limit was about 1 nmole of sugar per sample in 25 μ l of the trimethylsilylation reaction mixture. About 1 mg of α -amylase and 0.24 mg of band-2 protein (the weight being based on the amino acid composition) were used per sample in these carbohydrate determinations.

Two methods were used to cleave the carbohydrate moiety of the glycoproteins into monosaccharides. The first method was non-aqueous, using dry methanol containing 1.5 <u>M</u> HCl (Chambers and Clamp, 1971). Mannitol (100 nmole) was added to the test sample, and the sample was dried *in vacuo* for 12 hr over P_2O_5 . One milliliter of dry methanolic HCl was added to the sample, and the vial or test tube was flushed with N_2 for 1 min. The vial or tube was sealed, and the mixture was heated at 80 C for 12 hr. If vials were used, the paper liners of the caps were replaced by teflon liners. After methanolysis, the solution was cooled, the container opened, and the HCl neutralized by

cautious addition of solid silver carbonate. When gas was no longer evolved upon further addition of silver carbonate, 100 μ l of dry acetic anhydride was added, the vial was closed again and incubated for 6 hr. The liquid was removed and placed in a 15-ml centrifuge tube. The solid was resuspended two times in 1 ml of dry methanol and was removed by low-speed centrifugation. The rinses were added to the centrifuge tube which was centrifuged at 13,300 g for 20 min. The supernatant solution was subsequently evaporated at 45 C under a stream of nitrogen. The sample was dried under vacuum over P_2O_5 for 6 to 10 hr. The trimethylsilylating reagent (25 μ l) was added, and after 45 min, the samples were analyzed on a Perkin-Elmer 900 gas chromatograph. The silylation reagent, containing pyridine, trimethylchlorosilane, and hexamethyldisilazane (5:1:1, v/v/v), was stored up to 72 hr and was centrifuged before use. After derivatization, the sample was diluted with dry ethyl acetate, if required.

The second method was designed to allow the cleavage of the carbohydrate into monosaccharide units to occur while the glycoprotein was still in the polyacrylamide gel. The gels were fixed for 48 hr in 50% methanol containing 5% acetic acid. Several changes of about 500 ml of fixing solution per gel were used. Portions of the gel which contained the precipitated protein were excised with a razor blade, and up to 1.25 cm^3 of gel was placed in a test tube (Pyrex, 13 x 100 mm). The gel pieces were subsequently minced up using a dissecting tool with an arrow-shaped tip. Two volumes of 3 N trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) were added to one volume of gel so that the concentration of TFA in the total aqueous phase was about 2 N. Mannitol was added as an internal standard and the tubes were sealed with a gas-oxygen torch. The sealed tubes were incubated at

121

þ

121 C for 60 min. The tubes were cooled, the aqueous phase was transferred to a new tube, and the H_2O and TFA were removed by a stream of nitrogen while the tube was maintained at 45 C. The gel material, which had been left behind, was meanwhile rinsed with a small volume of H_2O which was subsequently combined with the first aqueous phase which was being evaporated. The residues were dried *in vacuo* for 7 to 10 hr over P_2O_5 . The monosaccharides released by this aqueous procedure were then processed as in the first method, beginning at the step where dry methanolic-HCl was added to the sample.

Glassware and Dialysis Tubing

Glassware used for carbohydrate and amino-acid analyses were cleaned with Dichrol (Scientific Products, McGaw Park, IL, USA) followed by detergent, acetone, and methanol. Every attempt was made to avoid contamination of the samples by dust. Dialysis tubing (Dialyapor A, molecular weight cutoff 6000 to 8000, National Scientific Company) was boiled once in 2% sodium bicarbonate, three times in 2% sodium bicarbonate plus 0.03% EDTA, and once in distilled H 0. The dialysis tubing was rinsed and stored in 50% glycerol with 10% ethanol.

Source of Chemicals

Chemicals used for carbohydrate analysis were obtained from sources suggested by Bhatti et al. (1970) or Chambers and Clamp (1971). Those for the dansyl hydrazine reaction were as suggested by Eckhardt (1976). Reagents for electrophoresis included SDS from Pierce (Rockford, IL), acrylamide from Ames (Miles Laboratories, Elkhart, IN), bis-acrylamide, TEMED, and ammonium persulfate from Bio-Rad (Richmond, CA). Basic fuchsin was obtained from Allied Chemical Corporation (New York, NY). Ovalbumin, BSA, Coomassie Brilliant Blue R, and chymotrypsinogen were obtained from Sigma Chemical Company (St. Louis, MO), while lysozyme (muramidase) was Obtained from Worthington Biochemicals (Freehold, NJ). Isoelectric focusing was performed using ampholines from LKB (Rockville, MD).

RESULTS

Synthesis of α -Amylase by Barley Grains

A time course of the synthesis and release of amylolytic activity by germinating Himalaya barley grains is shown in Figure 26. The amylase activity increased for 5 days, after which time the starchy endosperm was completely solubilized. After one day of imbibition, 87% of the α -amylase was released from the aleurone cells, and after 5 days, 99% of the α -amylase which had been synthesized had been released from the cells.

Partial Purification of a-Amylase

Based on the results of the time course experiment, grains were incubated for 4.5 days, and the secreted α -amylase was collected and purified. The grains were continuously incubated in buffer and 10 μ M GA₃ to insure that the maximum amount of α -amylase was synthesized. α -Amylase was bound to glycogen in the presence of 40% ethanol and was precipitated as a glycogen-amylase complex. The precipitate was subsequently solubilized in Trisca buffer at room temperature. Most of the α -amylase and glycogen were solubilized within the time required to collect the precipitates from the centrifuge bottles (Figure 27). The α -amylase solubilized during zero to 45 min of incubation in Trisca were pooled. The solubilized α -amylase was precipitated a second time by 30% ethanol, and the pellet was solubilized again in Trisca. This α -amylase was then precipitated

•• Figure 26. Synthesis and release of α -amylase by germinating barley grains. Grains were allowed to germinate on agar in the dark. α -Amylase in: tissue, []; cell wall, [released, •; total, 0.

..



Figure 26

Figure 27. Solubilization of α -amylase after glycogen precipitation. The glycogen-amylase complex was resuspended in buffer three times in a row and the amount of α -amylase released into the buffer after each resuspension was determined. Bar 1: α -amylase released during the first resuspension period (15 min). Bar 2: additional α -amylase released during a second resuspension period (30 min). Bar 3: further α -amylase released after a third resuspension period (60 min). Incubations were at room temperature and were followed by centrifugation to separate soluble and insoluble α -amylase/glycogen complexes.



Figure 27

with 20%, 10%, and finally 5% ethanol in the same fashion. This produced the somewhat surprising result that most of the α -amylase was precipitated by concentrations of ethanol as low as 10% (Figure 28). The α -amylase must have remained attached to the glycogen throughout these manipulations, and the solubilization of the glycogen-amylase complex in Trisca buffer must not have occurred solely as a result of hydrolysis of the glycogen to limit dextrins as had been suggested by others (Loyter and Schramm, 1962).

Purity of the *a*-Amylase Solution

The α -amylase was tested for purity after solubilization of the glycogen-amylase complex using SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (Figure 29). Two protein bands were seen after staining the gels with Coomassie Brilliant Blue R. The first of these was α -amylase, with a molecular weight of between 41,000 and 42,000 daltons, and accounted for 73% of the total staining intensity of the two bands. The second protein ("band-2") constituted 27% of the applied protein and had a molecular weight of 20,500 daltons. The approximate molar ratio of the two was thus 1.35 molecules of α -amylase to one of the smaller component.

Attempts to Remove the 20,500 Dalton Protein (Band-2)

Several attempts were made to remove the band-2 protein from the α -amylase preparation. However, this proved to be a difficult undertaking. Because of the differences in the molecular weights of the two proteins, it was anticipated that they would be separable by exclusion chromatography on Bio-Gel P-60. However, only one peak of protein was eluted from the column. Six fractions taken from different regions across the peak were tested for the presence of the

Figure 28. Precipitation of the solubilized glycogen-amylase complex by ethanol. The α -amylase fractions represented by Figure 27 were combined, then re-precipitated by the addition of cold 30% ethanol. This new precipitate was solubilized by addition of cold Trisca buffer, then re-precipitated with 20% ethanol. This procedure was repeated with 10% ethanol, then with 5% ethanol. The amount of α -amylase which was precipitated each time is shown. All procedures were performed at 0-2 C.



Figure 28

SDS-polyacrylamide gels were stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue R250 and were scanned at 560 nm. Proteins secreted by barley grains, solid line; from isolated aleurone tissue, dotted line. The histogram represents the radioactivity associated with 1-cm sections of gel which contained the α -amylase from Purity of the a-amylase after precipitation by glycogen. isolated aleurone tissue. Figure 29.



Figure 29

two proteins. Only the sample taken from the trailing edge of the peak was pure α -amylase. This suggested that in its native state the protein of band-2 contained two of the 20,500 dalton peptides and thus had a molecular weight about equal to that of α -amylase. As very little pure α -amylase was obtained by this method, use of this method as a preparative technique was not feasible.

Since the native proteins could not be separated on the basis of their molecular weights, an attempt was made to separate the two by preparative isoelectric focusing (Figure 30). Two components were resolved, one with a pI of 5.0 and the second with a pI of 6.8, based on the regions of α -amylase activity in the column. The first component (pI 5.0) was pure α -amylase. The second (pI 6.8) included both α -amylase and the second protein in fraction IIc and IId. [In actuality, the true pI of the second component lay between pH 5.5 and pH 6.8 based on the amounts of protein (assayed after dialysis of the fractions) present in each region. Some of the α -amylase had been inactivated at the region of its true pI.] From this it appeared that the α -amylase and the band-2 protein could not be separated by differences in net charge of the molecules.

In addition, the contaminating protein could not be removed by differential ammonium-sulfate precipitation. Most of the α -amylase (95%) was precipitated by ammonium sulfate at 20 to 40% of saturation (Table 3). A small amount of α -amylase activity (5%) precipitated when the ammonium sulfate concentration was at 50 to 60% of saturation. The α -amylase from the first precipitate contained the band-2 contaminant. That from the second precipitation (50 to 60%) was very nearly pure α -amylase, with only a faint trace of the second protein being present. The first precipitate (20 to 40% saturation of

Figure 30. Isoelectric focusing of α -amylase. A mixture of α -amylase and band-2 protein was focused at 8 C using a gradient of pH 5 to 8 in glycerol. After focusing, the indicated fractions were pooled, dialyzed, concentrated (Millipore immersible mole-cular separation) and analyzed on SDS-polyacrylamide gels. Fraction IIb contained the most protein. Fractions I and IIa contained pure α -amylase. The gels are not shown.



Figure 30

(NH ₄) ₂ SO ₄ , ^a % of saturation	Time at 0 C	α -Amylase, units of activity	Protein, µg ^b
0 to 20%	l hr	0	
20 to 40% I ^C	l hr	23,402	15,360
20 to 40% II ^d	3 hr	1533	1290
40 to 50%	10 hr	17.4	
50 to 60%	l hr	1341	1703
60 to 80% ^C	72 hr	<1	

Table 3. Ammonium-sulfate precipitation of purified α -amylase

^aAt 0 C.

^bMeasured as bovine serum albumin equivalents.

^CSome non-proteinaceous crystals formed during dialysis.

d Incubation of the supernatant fraction from the first ammonium-sulfate precipitation was continued for a further 3 hr. ammonium sulfate) was thereafter designated as $\alpha A-40I$, and was kept separate from the second precipitate (50 to 60% saturation), which was designated as $\alpha A-60$.

The band-2 protein had roughly the same molecular weight as α -amylase (in its native state) and the same net charge. It also precipitated with the bulk of the α -amylase during ammonium sulfate precipitation. Furthermore, the protein also bound to glycogen and was not precipitated by the 70 C heat treatment which was a part of the purification procedure. The band-2 protein was also rendered soluble to the same extent as was α -amylase during the solubilization of the glycogen-amylase pellet (Figure 27), and it precipitated in a constant ratio to α -amylase during the repeated ethanol precipitations at different ethanol concentrations (Figure 28). However, it did not appear that the presence of this peptide was necessary for α -amylase to be active since fractions which contained only the 41,000 to 42,000 dalton protein were fully active, based on the expected specific activity of α -amylase.

No method for the separation of active α -amylase isozymes from the band-2 protein was found. Therefore, the two proteins were separated by preparative SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis.

Amino-Acid Composition of α -Amylase and the Band-2 Protein

The two proteins, α -amylase and band-2, were characterized on the basis of their amino-acid compositions. The α -amylase, it should be recalled, was composed of four α -amylase isozymes. The average amino-acid composition of this mixture of α -amylases is shown in Table 4. For reference, the ratio of each of the amino acids to isoleucine was determined. The amino acid composition of the 20,500

	Number of Residues,
Amino Acid	normalized to 1.0 of isoleucine
ala	1.93 ± 0.015 ^a
gly	2.69 ± 0.044
val	1.30 ± 0.021
thr	0.93 ± 0.006
ser	0.81 ± 0.010
leu	1.47 ± 0.006
ilu	1.00
pro	1.14 ± 0.044
met	0.38 ± 0.010
asp	2.86 ± 0.051
phe	0.98 ± 0.026
glu	1.54 ± 0.012
lys	1.29 ± 0.010
tyr	0.83 ± 0.021
arg	0.97 ± 0.023
his	0.94 ± 0.104

Table 4. Amino acid composition of barley α -amylase

^aStandard deviation, based on four replicates.

dalton protein is shown in Table 5. The relative ratio of the individual amino acids in α -amylase and the band-2 protein was also determined. If the two proteins had the same amino acid composition, the values determined in the last column of Table 5 would have been identical. The variation in the ratios suggests that the band-2 protein is different from the average α -amylase molecule. Cysteine was detected in both proteins, but the amount was not quantitated.

The amino acid composition of barley α -amylase was compared to that of wheat α -amylase (Tkachuk and Kruger, 1974) in Table 6. The percent of the weight of α -amylase which was represented by each amino acid was determined, assuming that the tryptophan and cysteine compositions of the barley enzyme were the same as those of wheat. The average number of residues of each amino acid present in barley α -amylase was determined using this same assumption. Barley α -amylase differed from that of wheat α -amylase by being noticeably poorer in glutamate/glutamine, serine and proline, while being somewhat richer in aspartate/asparagine, lysine, and phenylalanine.

Glycosylation of α -Amylase and the Band-2 Protein

Mitchell (1972) reported that barley α -amylase was a glycoprotein, although the mole percent of each sugar residue had not been determined. Preliminary experiments indicated that my barley α -amylase preparations, which still were contaminated by the 20,500 dalton protein, contained a variety of sugars including arabinose, xylose, glucose, and small amounts of mannose. These samples had been prepared after the solubilized glycogen-amylase complexes had been incubated at room temperature, then passed over a column of DEAE-cellulose to remove the neutral sugars and polysaccharides.

	Number of Residues,	Ratio of
Amino Acid	Normalized to 1.0 of ilu	Band-2 to a-Amylase ^a
ala	3.08 ± 0.078^{b}	1.60
gly	3.85 ± 0.014	1.43
val	1.89 ± 0.014	1.45
thr	1.70 ± 0.035	1.83
ser	2.10 ± 0.092	2.59
leu	2.32 ± 0.049	1.58
ilu	1.00	1.00
pro	2.96 ± 0.113	2.36
met	0.30 ± 0.071	0.79
asp	3.47 ± 0.085	1.21
phe	1.46 ± 0.212	1.49
glu	2.62 ± 0.156	1.70
lys	1.48 ± 0.071	1.14
tyr	1.44 ± 0.495	1.73
arg	2.36 ± 0.071	2.43
his	1.94 ± 0.134	2.06

Table 5. Amino acid composition of the band-2 protein

^aNormalized to a ratio of 1.0 for ilu.

^bStandard deviation, based on three replicates.

Amino Acid	_Weight barley ^a	Percent wheat	Ratio, barley: wheat ^b	Number of barley ^C	Residues wheat ^d
ala	5.68	5.42	1.05	33.2	33.0
gly	6.27	5.55	1.13	46.2	42.0
val	5.27	5.68	0.93	22.3	24.8
thr	4.10	4.76	0.86	16.0	20.4
ser	2.89	4.11	0.70	13.9	20.4
leu	6.94	7.16	0.97	25.3	27.4
ilu	4.22	5.21	0.81	17.2	19.9
pro	4.43	5.86	0.76	19.6	26.1
met	2.12	1.88	1.13	6.5	6.2
asp	13.42	11.00	1.22	49.1	41.5
phe	6.08	4.87	1.25	16.8	14.3
glu	8.16	12.20	0.67	26.5	41.0
lys	6.97	5.56	1.25	22.2	18.8
tyr	5.70	6.05	0.94	14.3	12.7
arg	6.35	6.25	1.02	16.7	17.3
his	4.66	4.06	1.15	16.2	12.8
cys	^e	1.04			2.2
trp	e	4.75			11.0

Table 6. Comparison of amino acids in barley and wheat α -amylases

^aAdjusted, as if barley α -amylase contained the same weight percent of cys and trp as did wheat α -amylase.

^bCalculated from weight percent. ^CPer molecule of 41,400 daltons. ^dPer molecule of 43,300 daltons. ^eNot determined. Even when the α -amylase was fully inactivated by incubation at pH 3 and then dialyzed extensively, the dialysate still contained these sugars, although their amounts in different samples varied. Because α -amylase is known to bind tenaciously to its substrate (Fischer and Stein, 1960), even during its crystallization, I had concluded that the α -amylase would have to be denatured before it was analyzed for the presence of sugars. However, while the dialysate of the pH 3-denatured α -amylase contained sugars, there was no proof that these were covalently bound to the protein. Perhaps the sugars were not removed by dialysis, although they should have been released from the protein during denaturation.

The two proteins, α -amylase and band-2, could only be separated by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. This procedure was also well suited to the removal of carbohydrate polymers which were not covalently attached to the α -amylase molecule. Since SDS treatment converts proteins into more or less linear molecules, it would be nearly impossible for any non-covalent association of carbohydrate and protein to be maintained during electrophoresis. Unattached carbohydrate would be left behind at the top of the gel. a-Amylase from the first precipitation by ammonium sulfate (20 to 40%) was denatured and subjected to SDS-polyacrylamide electrophoresis, and the number of sugar residues per molecule of α -amylase was determined by gas chromatography (Table 7). The sugars were identified as their trimethylsilylated methyl glycosides. The gas-chromatographic method was chosen because each monosaccharide present in the final solution yielded two or more peaks after gas chromatography, thus producing a "fingerprint" characteristic of that particular sugar, which aided in its identification.

ັດຮ໌ (^r HN)	Method of	Mann	ose	Gluc	ose	N-Acetylgl	ucosamine	
raction	Analysis ^a	d muminim	maximum ^c	minim	mumixem	minim	maximum	
20 to 40% I	A	0.29	0.43	ס 	g 	0	0	
20 to 40% 1	m	0.33	0.49	0.36	0.54	0.31	0.45	
50 to 60%	υ	0.31	0.47	0.16	0.24	0.11	0.17	
a _A .	In situ hydrol	ysis in the p	olyacrylamide	: gels.				

Table 7. Residues of sugar per molecule of α -amylase

B. Protein eluted from the gels by electrophoresis.

C. Protein dialyzed against 10 mM glycine buffer, pH 3.0.

b Based on an approximation of the weight of protein used in the determination.

^CBased on the number of nmoles of each amino acid (except trp or cys) in a similar sample of α-amylase.

dvalues could not be determined due to a high background of glucose in the gel.

.

a-Amylase was removed from the gels by electrophoresis, precipitated with TCA, and treated with methanolic HCl to release the sugar residues. Small amounts of mannose, glucose, and N-acetylglucosamine were identified (Table 7, line 2). The sugar residues were also hydrolyzed without removing the protein from the gel. The electrophoresis buffer was removed from the "fixed" gel and sugar residues were solubilized by an aqueous hydrolysis technique using trifluoroacetic acid. In this case (Table 7, line 1) mannose was detected, but not N-acetylglucosamine. A high concentration of glucose in the gels interfered with the glucose determination. The glucose was also present in gels which had not been loaded with protein. The α -amylase which was precipitated at 50 to 60% of ammonium sulfate saturation was nearly free of the band-2 protein and was therefore examined without being subjected to electrophoresis. Instead, it was denatured at pH 3 and then dialyzed. The entire sample was used for one sugar determination. Again, mannose, glucose and N-acetylglucosamine were found (Table 7, line 3).

In all of these cases, a constant number of mannose residues was detected, ranging from 0.3 to 0.5 residues per molecule of α -amylase, depending on the method used to determine the amount of protein which was analyzed. The amount of glucose varied, contributing up to 0.5 residues per molecule. N-Acetyl glucosamine was present (except after trifluoroacetic acid treatment of the α -amylase in the gels), again contributing up to 0.5 residues per molecule. It therefore appears that all of the α -amylase molecules are not glycosylated, but some of them may be.

For comparison, the number of sugar residues per molecule of the band-2 protein was determined (Table 8). No mannose was detected, but

(NH _A) ₂ SO _A	Method of	Gluco	ose	N-Acetylglucosamine	
Fraction	Analysis ^a	minimum ^b	maximum ^C	minimum	maximum
20 to 40% I	A	d	d	0.04	0.06
20 00 400 1	В	0.38	0.65	0.14	0.25

•

Table 8. Residues of sugar per molecule of band-2 protein

a,b,c,d_{Refer} to Table 7.

up to 0.6 residues of glucose and 0.25 residues of N-acetylglucosamine per molecule were found.

Three unidentified peaks appeared on the chromatograms after gas chromatography of the cleavage products of proteins which had been subjected to electrophoresis. These peaks did not correspond to the positions of derivatized sugar residues which have been found in glycoproteins. They had retention times relative to mannitol of 0.20, 0.42, and 0.92 (proportional to retention times obtained by Bhatti et al., 1970). The three compounds appear to have originated from the SDS used for electrophoresis, since SDS from the manufacturer's bottle gave the same peaks, which were probably due to the presence of contaminants in the SDS. The unidentified compounds remained tightly bound to the proteins even after the proteins were eluted from the gels and precipitated by TCA or after the proteins were fixed in the gels and the gel buffer removed by repeated washings of the gels. The presence of tris also produced peaks in the chromatogram, so that tris also had to be removed from the protein samples before they were processed.

To insure that the procedures which were used did not prematurely remove the monosaccharides from the glycoproteins, ovalbumin was subjected to electrophoresis and treated in the same ways as α -amylase and the band-2 protein had been. After electrophoresis, the eluted ovalbumin exhibited the same ratio of mannose to N-acetylglucosamine as did ovalbumin which had been simply dissolved in H₂O. The ovalbumin samples which had been subjected to electrophoresis or had been mixed with the electrophoresis buffer but not subjected to electrophoresis also carried along the unidentified components (originating from SDS)

which appeared on the chromatograms, although ovalbumin is known to contain only mannose and N-acetylglucosamine as sugars.

In the analyses of Tables 7 and 8 a maximum and a minimum number of sugar residues per molecule are given. The numbers of sugar residues per molecule were determined by two different methods, giving rise to these maximum and minimum designations. The stock solution of α -amylase was split into two fractions, one being used for sugar analysis and one being used to determine the number of protein molecules present in the sample. This latter was determined from either the weight of the protein pellet prior to analysis of its amino-acid content or from the calculated weight of protein derived from the actual amino-acid content after hydrolysis of the protein (no correction was made for tryptophan or cysteine in this calculation). The number of protein molecules per sample (based on molecular weights of 41,400 for α -amylase and 20,500 for band-2) was greater in the case of the measured weight than in the case where the weight was calculated from the amino-acid content. This may have been due to the presence of solvent in the incompletely dried protein pellet. Using the measured weight of protein per sample, the minimum number of sugars per molecule was calculated, and using the calculated weight of protein, the maximum number of sugar residues per molecule was calculated.

The true molar ratio of α -amylase to the band-2 protein in α A-40 I was 2.25 based on the quantitation of amino acids (except tryptophan and cysteine) after those precipitates were hydrolyzed by acid. This compares to a staining ratio of the proteins on the gels of about 2.72. An estimate of the conversion factor for the Lowry determination based on BSA as a standard, to the true amount of



 α -amylase was calculated, based on an estimated loss of 5.8% of the weight of the amylase by destruction of tryptophan and cysteine. Since the Lowry determination was based on a mixture of α -amylase and band-2 protein, the conversion factor which I have estimated would be different if the α -amylase used for the Lowry assay had been completely pure. The conversion factor thus determined was that 1 unit from the Lowry determination was equal to 0.638 units of protein as determined from the amino-acid composition of the protein.

Reactions with Carbohydrate Stains

The periodic acid-Schiff (PAS) test is the conventional method for identifying glycoproteins in polyacrylamide gels. Carbon-carbon bonds with vicinal hydroxyl groups are cleaved in the presence of periodate. The product, a dialdehyde, is reduced by the Schiff reagent, resulting in a rose-red color. a-Amylase and the band-2 protein were tested for the presence of a PAS-positive carbohydrate molety. Ovalbumin, which gives a weak PAS-positive reaction, was used as a control. Bovine serum albumin and chymotrypsinogen were used as non-glycosylated control proteins. The intensities of the positive reaction products of α -amylase and band-2 were compared to those of ovalbumin in Figure 31. The ovalbumin was added three times at 45-min intervals during electrophoresis, first 75 µg being added, then 25 μ g, and finally 7.5 μ g, the latter amount producing a very faint staining reaction. Seventy-two units of α -amylase were applied to the gel, the profile of which is shown at the top of Figure 31. Although the ovalbumin was stained within 48 hr by the reaction, α -amylase and the second, band-2 protein, were slower to react, requiring one to three weeks for the color to appear. The proteins
Figure 31. Periodate-Schiff (PAS) staining of α -amylase in polyacrylamide gels. Top scan: A solution containing 72 units of α -amylase was applied to the gel; the major peak is α -amylase and the minor peak is the band-2 protein. Bottom scan: Ovalbumin was added in three stages. First 75 µg (1) were added, later 25 µg (2) and, even later, 7.5 µg (3). The absorbance was measured at 560 nm. There were no other peaks of protein in the gels.



DISTANCE



were not run on the same set of gels, however. If the color reaction, in the case of α -amylase, occurred because of a secondary reaction of the protein with the periodate or Schiff reagent, it is interesting that neither bovine serum albumin nor chymotrypsinogen ever developed colored products, when as much as 75 µg of each protein was present per band on similarly prepared gels.

A second procedure was used to test whether the α -amylase was a glycoprotein. After the proteins in the gels were subjected to periodate oxidation, reaction of the oxidized glycoproteins with dansyl hydrazine followed by sodium borohydride caused the formation of a stable, fluorescent product. The fluorescence was detected under long-wavelength ultraviolet light (about 350 nm). Both α -amylase and the band-2 protein were stained by this procedure (Figure 32), as was ovalbumin. Following the procedure of Eckhardt (1976), proteins which had not been subjected to periodate oxidation were used as controls. a-Amylase which had not been oxidized was weakly fluorescent, while the periodate-oxidized material was considerably more fluorescent. The fluorescent products were visible as soon as the excess dansyl hydrazine was leached out of the gel. The staining reactions of ovalbumin (a glycoprotein with a small carbohydrate moiety) and lysozyme are included for comparison. The reaction of lysozyme is noteworthy since this non-glycosylated protein also gave a positive reaction with the dansyl hydrazine, indicating that proteins other than glycoproteins may react with the stain. The band-2 protein reacted with dansyl hydrazine in a manner analogous to that of α -amylase.

Figure 32. Periodate-dansyl hydrazine staining of α -amylase in polyacrylamide gels. Left to right: (1) α -amylase (100 µg) without periodate oxidation step; (2) α -amylase plus band-2 protein at a total of 10 µg per gel with periodate oxidation (PO), (3) α amylase and band-2 protein at 35 µg per gel with PO, and (4) α -amylase and band-2 protein at 100 µg per gel with PO; (5) and (6) ovalbumin, three bands in the same gel by sequential additions of 100 µg (bottom band), 35 µg (middle band), 10 µg (faint upper band), (5) is the control with no periodate oxidation step and (6) is the gel treated with periodate; (7) and (8) are lysozyme with the same 3 bands per gel as with ovalbumin, (7) is without the periodate step and (8) is periodate-treated. The white arrow points to the position of the marker dye, pyronin Y.



Figure 32

u-amyl origir. isolat 1 t<u>M</u> G manner grains of the 3.34 (from d lated Т labele the Fe to gl; while (Figu: synth GA3-i to be was ł rot,

Origin of the Band-2 Protein

Since band-2 protein could not be removed from preparations of α -amylase except by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, the origin of the band-2 protein was investigated. Aleurone layers were isolated from imbibed, de-embryonated seeds, and were treated with 1 μ M GA₃ for 24 hr. The released α -amylase was then purified in a manner analogous to the purification of α -amylase from the whole grains. In the glycogen precipitate of released enzyme, the ratio of the α -amylase to band-2 on a mole per mole basis increased to 3.34 (Figure 29). The ratio of the two proteins which were isolated from de-embryonated seeds was the same as that of the proteins isolated from whole barley grains, namely 1.35.

The protein synthesized and released by the aleurone layers was labeled with ¹⁴C-leucine to test whether band-2 was synthesized during the period of GA_3 -treatment. Less than 3% of the label which bound to glycogen was found to be associated with this region of the gel, while the rest of the label was associated with the α -amylase band (Figure 29). These results suggest that the band-2 protein was not synthesized in response to GA_3 and was thus probably not derived from GA_3 -induced α -amylase. A major part of the band-2 protein appeared to be associated with the starchy endosperm at the time GA_3 treatment was begun, and its release to the starchy endosperm was apparently not dependent upon GA_3 treatment.

,	
N I	
	1
1	
1	l
1	
1	aleu
	l
I	by e
I	The
	dal
	-41
	Pol
	Ι'n
	*
	re:
I	
	5
	<u> </u>
	0
	ĉ
	i
,	

Ļ

DISCUSSION

Four isozymes of α -amylase are synthesized and secreted by the aleurone tissue of Himalaya barley. These isozymes can be separated by electrophoresis on slab gels of 1% agar (Jacobsen et al., 1970). The isozymes must all have about the same molecular weight of 41,400 daltons, as has been determined by electrophoresis on SDSpolyacrylamide gels, where the isozymes move as one band of protein. I have now investigated the primary structure of α -amylase with respect to its amino acid composition and extent of glycosylation.

Amino-Acid Composition

The "average protein" molecule (see Varner, 1969) consists of different numbers of each amino-acid residue per molecule, that is, of different mole percents of each amino-acid. The "average protein" appears to be rich in glutamate/glutamine, rich in aspartate/asparagine, and rich in alanine and glycine residues. These amino-acids have in common the fact that there is a guanine in the first position of the codon which codes for them. On the other hand, the "average protein" is poor in the aromatic amino-acids phenylalanine, tryptophan, tyrosine, and histidine, as well as the sulfur amino-acids methionine and cysteine. These amino-acids are more likely to participate directly in catalytic or recognition functions of the protein. α -Amylase differs from the "average protein molecule" by having a higher relative proportion of histidine and tyrosine and a lower

			1 1
			1
			relati
			from h
			1974)
			aspara
			perce
			gluta
			each
			and
			OI Lo
			W111
			Lowry
			Prese
			8୦୫ :
			1 mg
			albu
			a-am
			grai
			exte
			Poly
			reac
			reac
			a- ^{gu}
			1
			siou

relative proportion of glutamate/glutamine (Table 9). α -Amylase from barley is rather similar to that from wheat (Tkachuk and Kruger, 1974), the barley α -amylases being somewhat richer in aspartate/ asparagine, phenylalanine and lysine (when the ratio of weight percents of the amino acids are compared) and somewhat poorer in glutamate/glutamine, proline, and serine (Table 6).

By knowing the molecular weight of a protein, the nanomoles of each amino acid which are present in a given sample of the enzyme, and the weight of protein in that sample as determined by the method of Lowry (Layne, 1957), one can obtain a correction factor which will convert the estimated weight of protein, as determined by the Lowry method (Layne, 1957), to the true weight of protein which is present in the sample. Using a protein preparation that contained 80% by weight of the total protein as α -amylase, I calculated that 1 mg of protein, as estimated by the Lowry method using bovine serum albumin as a standard (Layne, 1957), was equal to 0.63 mg of actual α -amylase.

Glycosylation

The α -amylase which had been secreted by GA₃-treated barley grains also appeared to be glycosylated, although to a limited extent. α -Amylase which was subjected to electrophoresis on SDSpolyacrylamide gels could be stained by the periodic acid-Schiff reaction (Figure 31) and by the periodic acid-dansyl hydrazine reaction (Figure 32). This indicated that at least some of the α -amylase molecules were glycosylated.

Because electrophoresis of a protein on SDS-polyacrylamide gels should remove any non-covalently bound carbohydrate, such an

			١	1
			N I	
			1	
				1
				Table
				Amino
				Acid
			I.	lys
			1	his
			1	arg
				asp
				thr
				Ser
			1	יום
				Dro
				al v
				9]2 X-2
				Vol
			1	Tot
				*****E i 1
				י דדת
				тел
				tyr
				Phe
				_

Amino	Mo	le Percent	Ratio,
Acid	α-amylase	average protein	α -amylase/ average protein
lys	6.3	5.9	1.1
his	3.9	1.8	2.2
arg	4.7	4.9	0.96
asp	13.4	9.7	1.4
thr	4.7	4.8	0.98
ser	3.8	6.0	0.63
glu	7.3	12.7	0.57
pro	5.3	6.2	0.85
gly	12.7	12.6	1.0
ala	9.2	9.6	0.96
val	6.1	5.9	1.0
met	1.9	1.8	1.1
ilu	4.8	6.0	0.80
leu	7.1	6.0	1.2
tyr	4.0	2.3	1.7
phe	4.8	3.7	1.3

Table 9. Comparison of α -amylase to an "average protein" molecule^a

^aSee Varner, 1969.

e

p

electrophoretic pre-treatment appears to be a useful procedure for preparing small quantities of protein (i.e., on the order of 1 mg or less) for carbohydrate analysis. Any protein which is boiled in SDS and mercaptoethanol should release non-covalently bound carbohydrate, and the carbohydrate should be left behind at the gel/buffer interface as the denatured protein enters the gel. The protein can subsequently be removed from the gel and subjected to carbohydrate analysis, or it can be fixed in the gel and be analyzed "*in situ*" after the electrophoresis buffer has been washed out of the gel. This eliminates the objection that even purified proteins may be non-covalently associated with carbohydrates or may retain carbohydrate at their substrate binding site.

Quantitative analysis of the number of sugar residues in α -amylase was used to show that, on the average, less than one residue each of mannose, glucose, and N-acetylglucosamine were present per average molecule of α -amylase.

On the average, the total population of α -amylase molcules contained by weight a maximum of 0.7% carbohydrate. This is much less than the 3% found by Mitchell (1972), who had identified glucose, galactose, mannose, xylose, fucose, and glucosamine in his purified preparations of α -amylase. Galactose, xylose and fucose were absent from the α -amylase which I had prepared by electrophoresis. In comparison to the glycosylation of barley α -amylase, wheat α -amylase is reportedly carbohydrate-free (Tkachuk and Kruger, 1974) and sorghum α -amylase has been reported to contain 2% carbohydrate (Fischer and Stein, 1960). The mannose, glucose, and N-acetylglucosamine residues which were identified after electrophoretic purification of the α -amylase are believed to be covalently attached to the protein on

1
1
the
have
pres
resi
hete
hete
that
Suga
mig
Pre
rem
bee
miq
is
19
al
re
ba
à
G
3
9
r
1 3

the assumption that non-covalently bound carbohydrate residues would have been removed from the protein during electrophoresis in the presence of SDS.

Since each sugar residue is present in a ratio of less than one residue per molecule of protein, the molecules of α -amylase must be heterogeneous with respect to their extent of glycosylation. This heterogeneity could originate during the synthesis of α -amylase such that the molecules of certain isozymes are glycosylated with different sugars, or to different extents. On the other hand, the heterogeneity might have arisen from the hydrolytic activity of enzymes which were present outside of the aleurone cytoplasm and which might have removed sugars from glycoproteins. That is, the α -amylase might have been more extensively glycosylated at the time of its synthesis and might have been de-glycosylated at some later time. Because a-amylase is probably synthesized on the endoplasmic reticulum (Chen and Jones, 1974; Jones and Chen, 1976), the protein may originally have been glycosylated by enzymes found within the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum, although such enzymes have yet to be characterized in the barley aleurone system.

It would be useful to separate the isozymes of α -amylase and determine in a qualitative way, at least, which of the isozymes were glycosylated. To this end, I attempted to resolve the isozymes of α -amylase on an isoelectric focusing polyacrylamide gel, using a pH gradient prepared by a mixture of 3 parts of Ampholines (LKB) in the range of pH 5 to 8 and 2 parts of Ampholines in the range of pH 3 to 10. However, I could only resolve two protein components, a sharp band which contained most of the protein and a very diffuse band at

		}	
			a 10
			Bri
			bee:
			int.
			iso:
			rat
			mus
			gel:
			eled
			aga:
			int
		L	pre
		1	Ьe
			a),
			fr.
			-10
			01
			th ,
			٢O
			μC
			Jc
			(
			Se
			S
			a
			t

a lower pI which contained less protein, as measured by Coomassie Brilliant Blue R staining. This degree of resolution would have been inadequate for analytical purposes. However, this result was interesting in another way. It suggested that while the α -amylase isozymes had essentially identical molecular weights and only separated into two groups on the basis of their isoelectric points, there must have been some feature(s) of their interaction with the agar gels which allowed clear resolution of all four isozymes in that electrophoretic system (Jacobsen et al., 1970). Unfortunately, agar itself is a polysaccharide and contains sugars which would interfere with glycoprotein analysis. Therefore, another method of preparative isozyme separation, besides electrophoresis on agar, must be found before the isozymes may be individually analyzed.

To test the possibility that α -amylase is more extensively glycosylated before it is secreted, the enzyme could be isolated from the particulate fraction of barley (Firn, 1975) for determination of its carbohydrate composition. This method of isolation would insure that the α -amylase was not exposed to extracellular enzymes during homogenization. Of course, this latter suggestion assumes a vesiculate mode of α -amylase secretion, which is disputed by experiments of Jones (1972). Some use could also be made of the general observation (e.g., Vigil and Ruddat, 1972) that Actinomycin D interferes with secretion of α -amylase, since Actinomycin D could be used to inhibit secretion and thus to increase the amount of α -amylase in the tissue at any one time. Such an analysis, however, was beyond the scope of the present study.

An alternative explanation for the low amount of sugars which were found in α -amylase, and the fact that less than one residue of

١	
ļ	a gi
	migh.
	Firs
	of a
	Was
	to ì
	carb
	duri
	tior
	exbe
	sta
	tru
	ILC
	ext
	C13
	163
	300 + h
	-11 + }
	50
	re
	- e Tr
	21

 $a_{\rm I}$

e]

a given sugar was present per α -amylase molecule, was that the results might have been artifactual. Two sorts of artifacts may have occurred. First, the single band of protein which included the four isozymes of α -amylase may also have included a second kind of protein which was glycosylated, while α -amylase was not. At present, there seems to be no reasonable way of testing this possibility. Second, some carbohydrate may have become attached (non-covalently) to α -amylase during the electrophoresis and subsequent stages of protein preparation for carbohydrate analysis, although there was no real reason to expect this. There is also the possibility that the periodatestaining reactions were positive, even though the proteins were not truly glycosylated (Figures 31 and 32). Some treatments of proteins, including α -amylase, with periodic acid (40 mM, 7 C, 105 hr) lead to extensive cleavage of the polypeptide (unpublished results; see also Clamp and Hough, 1965), and it may be possible that these fragments react with either the Schiff reagent or dansyl hydrazine in the subsequent staining reactions. If such reactions had occurred, however, they would have had to have been dependent on the peculiarities of the α -amylase molecule because, except in the case of lysozyme, control proteins which are known to be non-glycosylated did not react with the chromagens to form either colored or fluorescent products as a specific result of periodate oxidation.

The Band-2 Protein

A second protein, the band-2 protein, co-purified with α -amylase up to the step when the proteins were separated by preparative electrophoresis. The presence of the second protein was unexpected since the use of a similar method for the purification of α -amylase

fr di fr di fr di di di di di di di di di di	rom de issert ree of ne sam ne SDS 1974)
fr di fr fr fr di fr di fr fr fr fr fr fr fr fr fr fr	rom de issert ree of ne sam ne SDS 1974)
ה ז ז ג ג ג ג ג ג ג ג ג ג ג ג ג ג ג ג ג	issert ree of ne sam ne SDS 1974)
fr t t t t t t t t t t t t t	ree of ne sam ne SDS 1974)
ti : : : : : : : : : : : : :	he sam ne SDS 1974)
11 11 12 13 14 15 15 14 15 15 14 15 15 15 15 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16	he SDS 1974)
1) ma ma ma ma ma ma ma ma ma ma	1974)
m ba in pr g1 it na th pr g2 it na th pr g2 g2 g2 g2 g2 g2 g2 g2 g2 g2 g2 g2 g2	
ba in pr gl it na th pr QA Th	plecul
in pr g1 it na th pr QA QA Th	ind-2
۲	1 the
91 it na th pr CA Th	rotein
it na th Pr QA Th	lycoge
it na th 92 GA Th	
na th Pr QA Th	: had
th Pr QA Th	itive
pr GA Th	ie sam
GA GA Th	^{:ot} ei:
GA Th	⁴ 3 ^{-tre}
$T_{ m h}$	¹ 3 ^{-tre}
	ie pro
th	e im
Se	rha _F
Pr	otei-
th	e re
la	ted
DO	unl
*0	re r.
tic	on o:
Paz	i i

from de-embryonated grains of Betzes barley (in Section I of this dissertation) yielded a preparation which, in most instances, was free of this contaminant, although faint traces of a protein of about the same molecular weight (21,000 daltons) could be seen on some of the SDS-polyacrylamide gels. Interestingly, Tkachuk and Kruger (1974) also found a minor protein contaminant of about the same molecular weight in their preparations of wheat α -amylase. The band-2 protein may have been present at a much lower concentration in the Betzes barley grains or, for some unknown reason, a similar protein from Betzes barley grains may not have been bound to the glycogen in the final stages of purification.

The band-2 protein was similar to α -amylase in several ways: it had a similar isoelectric point and molecular weight (in its native state), it bound tightly to glycogen, and it precipitated at the same concentration of ammonium sulfate. Much of the band-2 protein was removed by scraping away the starchy endosperm prior to GA3-treatment. Since the protein did not become labeled during GA3-treatment, it must have been synthesized prior to that time. The protein could conceivably be an *a*-amylase which derived from the immature seed, or it may have been some other carbohydrase or perhaps a lectin, which also bound to glycogen. Most probably, the protein was localized in the periplasmic space, the cell wall and/or the residual starchy endosperm at the time GA, was added to the isolated aleurone layers, because Jacobsen and Knox (1974) reported that no unlabeled proteins with molecular weight less than 40,000 daltons were released after GA₂-treatment. A notable feature of the composition of the band-2 protein was that it also appeared to be only partially glycosylated. This supports the contention that cleavage

of sugar

۱

tion or a

for the l

as discus

of sugar residues from the glycoprotein may occur either upon secretion or at some subsequent time. However, alternate explanations for the low amount of carbohydrate per molecule of band-2 protein as discussed regarding α -amylase may also apply here. REFERENCES

.

	,
	Axel, R.
	÷.
	2
	Bhatta
	bøg-Har
	Bellam
	0
	Carlson
	Charbe
	Champe
	Chana
	-41.UY
	Chand:
	Cha
	cuen,
	Chri.
	· • • •

REFERENCES

- Axel, R., H. Cedar and G. Felsenfeld. 1974. Chromatin template activity and chromatin structure. Cold Spring Harbor Symposium on Quantitative Biology 38:773-783.
- Bhatti, T., R. E. Chambers, and J. R. Clamp. 1970. The gas chromatographic properties of biologically important N-acetylglucosamine derivatives, monosaccharides, disaccharides, trisaccharides, tetrasaccharides and pentasaccharides. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 222:339-347.
- Bøg-Hansen, T. C. and J. Daussant. 1974. Immunochemical quantitation of isozymes. α-Amylase isozymes in barley malt. Anal. Biochem. 61:522-527.
- Bellamy, A. and R. Ralph. 1968. Recovery and purification of nucleic acids by means of a cetyltrimethylammonium bromide. p. 156-160. <u>In</u> L. Grossman and K. Moldave [eds.] Methods in Enzymology Vol. XIIB. Academic Press, New York.
- Carlson, P. S. 1972. Notes on the mechanism of action of gibberellic acid. Nature New Biology 237:39-41.
- Chambers, R. E. and J. R. Clamp. 1971. An assessment of methanolysis and other factors used in the analysis of carbohydratecontaining materials. Biochem. J. 125:1009-1018.
- Champe, S. P. and S. Benzer. 1962. Reversal of mutant phenotypes by 5-fluorouracil: An approach to nucleotide sequences in messenger-RNA. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 48:532-546.
- Chandra, G. R. 1974. Effect of 5-fluorouracil on the gibberellic acid-induced formation of thermolabile α-amylase molecules in barley aleurone cells. Nature 248:161-162.
- Chandra, G. R. and J. E. Varner. 1965. Gibberellic acid-controlled metabolism of RNA in aleurone cells of barley. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 108:583-592.
- Chen, R. and R. L. Jones. 1974. Studies on the release of barley aleurone cell proteins: autoradiography. Planta 119:207-220.
- Chrispeels, M. J. and J. E. Varner. 1967. Gibberellic acid-enhanced synthesis and release of α-amylase and ribonuclease by isolated barley aleurone layers. Plant Physiol. 42:398-406.

L.
Clamp
Cramp,
Daussa:
Eckhar
Fisch ϵ
Fairba
Feigl;
Filne
Firn,
Fryde
Gibsc
Gleas
Goody
Hadj
Higg

- Clamp, J.R. and L. Hough. 1965. The periodate oxidation of amino acids with reference to studies on glycoproteins. Biochem. J. 94:17-24.
- Daussant, J., A. Skakoun, and M. L. Niku-Paavola. 1974. Immunochemical study on barley α-amylases. J. Inst. Brewing 80:55-58.
- Eckhardt, A. E. 1976. A sensitive fluorescent method for the detection of glycoproteins in polyacrylamide gels. Anal. Biochem. 73:192-197.
- Fischer, E. H. and E. A. Stein. 1960. α-Amylases. p. 313-343. In P. Boyer, H. Lardy and K. Myrbäck [eds.] Enzymes Vol. 4. Academic Press, New York.
- Fairbanks, G., T. Steck, and D. Wallach. 1971. Electrophoretic analysis of the major polypeptides of human erythrocyte membrane. Biochemistry 10:2606-2617.
- Feigl, F. 1958. Spot Tests in Inorganic Analysis. p. 534. Elsevier Publishing Co., New York.
- Filner, P. and J. E. Varner. 1967. A test for *de novo* synthesis of enzymes: Density labeling with H₂O¹⁸ of barley α-amylase induced by gibberellic acid. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 58: 1520-1526.
- Firn, R. D. 1975. On the secretion of α-amylase by barley aleurone layers after incubation in gibberellic acid. Planta 125: 227-233.
- Frydenberg, O. and G. Nielsen. 1965. Amylase isozymes in germinating barley seeds. Hereditas 54:123-140.
- Gibson, R. and L. Paleg. 1975. Further experiments on the α -amylasecontaining lysozomes of wheat aleurone cells. Aust. J. Plant Physiol. 2:41-49.
- Gleason, M. K. and H. Fraenkel-Conrat. 1976. Biological consequences of incorporation of 5-fluorocytidine in the RNA of 5-fluorouraciltreated eukaryotic cells. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 73:1528-1531.
- Goodwin, P. and D. Carr. 1972. Actinomycin D and the hormonal induction of amylase synthesis in barley aleurone layers. Planta 106:1-12.
- Hadjiolova, K., E. Golovinsky, and A. Hadjiolov. 1973. The site of action of 5-fluoroorotic acid on the maturation of mouse liver ribonucleic acids. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 319:373-382.
- Higgins, T. J. V., J. A. Zwar, and J. V. Jacobsen. 1976. Gibberellic acid enhances the level of translatable mRNA for α -amylase in barley aleurone layers. Nature 260:167-169.

	:	1
	i 1	Но, Т
		Ho, D.
		Ho, D.
		Ingle,
		Jacobs
		Jacobs
		Jacobs
		^{Jacobs}
		^{Jacobs}
		Jacobs
		^{Jon} es,
		^{Jones} ,
		^{Jones} ,
		Key, J

- Ho, T.-H. D. 1976. On the mechanism of hormone controlled enzyme formation in barley aleurone layers. Ph.D. Dissertation, Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan, USA.
- Ho, D. and J. Varner. 1974. Hormonal control of messenger ribonucleic acid metabolism in barley aleurone layers. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 71:4783-4786.
- Ho, D. and J. Varner. 1975. Stable messenger ribonucleic acid for the gibberellic acid induced α-amylase in barley aleurone layers. Plant Physiol. Suppl. 56:44.
- Ingle, J. 1968. RNA, protein and nitrate reductase induction. Biochem. J. 108:715-724.
- Jacobsen, J.V. and R. B. Knox. 1973. Cytochemical localization and antigenicity of α-amylase in barley aleurone tissue. Planta 112:213-224.
- Jacobsen, J. V. and R. B. Knox. 1974. The proteins released by isolated barley aleurone layers before and after gibberellic-acid treatment. Planta 115:193-206.
- Jacobsen, J. V., J. G. Scandalios, and J. E. Varner. 1970. Multiple forms of amylase induced by gibberellic acid in isolated barley aleurone layers. Plant Physiol. 45:367-371.
- Jacobsen, J. V. and J. E. Varner. 1967. Gibberellic acid-induced synthesis of protease by isolated aleurone layers of barley. Plant Physiol. 42:1596-1600.
- Jacobsen, J. V. and J. A. Zwar. 1974a. Gibberellic acid and RNA synthesis in barley aleurone layers: Metabolism of rRNA and tRNA and of RNA containing polyadenylic acid sequences. Aust. J. Plant Physiol. 1:343-356.
- Jacobsen, J. V. and J. A. Zwar. 1947b. Gibberellic acid causes increased synthesis of RNA which contains poly(A) in barley aleurone tissue. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 71:3290-3293.
- Jones, R. L. 1972. Fractionation of the enzymes of the barley aleurone layer: Evidence of a soluble mode of enzyme release. Planta 103:95-109.
- Jones, R. L. and R.-F. Chen. 1976. Immunohistochemical localization of α-amylase in barley aleurone cells. J. Cell Sci. 20:183-198.
- Jones, T. M. and P. Albersheim. 1972. A gas chromatographic method for the determination of aldose and uronic acid constituents in plant cell wall polysaccharides. Plant Physiol. 49:926-936.
- Key, J. L. 1966. Effect of purine and pyrimidine analogues on growth and RNA metabolism in the soybean hypocotyl--the selective action of 5-fluorouracil. Plant Physiol. 41:1257-1264.

1	
	Kne
I	Lae
	Lan
	Lay
	Lot
	Lo:
	Loj
	Ma
	Mc
	Ma
	Mi
	R _C
	Sc
	Sc
	Tà

- Kneen, E., R. M. Sandstedt, and C. M. Hollenbeck. 1943. The differential stability of the malt amylases - separation of the alpha and beta components. Cereal Chemistry 20:399-423.
- Laemmli, U. 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T_A . Nature 227:680-685.
- Lamport, Derek T. A. 1969. The isolation and partial characterization of hydroxyproline-rich glycopeptides obtained by enzymic degradation of primary cell walls. Biochemistry 8:1155-1163.
- Layne, E. 1957. Spectrophotometric and turbidometric methods for measuring proteins. p. 447-454. In S. Colowick and N. Kaplan [eds.] Methods in Enzymology Vol. III. Academic Press, New York.
- Loening, U. 1967. The fractionation of high molecular-weight ribonucleic acid by polyacrylamide-gel electrophoresis. Biochem. J. 102:251-257.
- Lowry, O. H., N. J. Rosebrough, A. Farr, and R. Randall. 1951. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J. Biol. Chem. 193:265-275.
- Loyter, A. and M. Schramm. 1962. The glycogen-amylase complex as a means of obtaining highly purified α -amylases. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 65:200-206.
- Maclean, N. 1976. Control of Gene Expression. Academic Press, New York. 348p.
- McLeod, A. M. and G. H. Palmer. 1967. Gibberellin from barley embryos. Nature 216:1342.
- Mandel, H. G. 1969. The incorporation of 5-fluorouracil into RNA and its molecular consequences. p. 82-135. <u>In</u> F. Hahn [ed.] *Progress in Molecular and Subcellular Biology* Vol. 1. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Mitchell, E. 1972. Homogeneous α-amylase from malted barley. Phytochemistry 11:1673-1676.
- Rowsell, E. V. and L. J. Goad. 1962. Latent β -amylase of wheat: Its mode of attachment to glutenin and its release. Biochem. J. 84:73-74P.
- Schwimmer, S. 1947. Purification of barley malt alpha-amylase. Cereal Chemistry 24:315-325.
- Schwimmer, S. and A. Balls. 1949. Isolation and properties of crystalline α-amylase from germinated barley. J. Biol. Chem. 179: 1063-1074.
- Tanaka, Y. and T. Akazawa. 1970. a-Amylase isozymes in gibberellic acid-treated barley half-seeds. Plant Physiol. 46:586-591.

		l.	ļ
		То	oze
		Tk	ach
		V	arne
		v	arn
		V	larr.
			Varn
			, ur i
			Varı
			Var
			Va
			v
			I
- Tooze, J. and K. Weber. 1967. Isolation and characterization of amber mutants of bacteriophage R17. J. Mol. Biol. 28:311-330.
- Tkachuk, R. and J. E. Kruger. 1974. Wheat α-amylases. II. Physical characterization. Cereal Chemistry 51:508-529.
- Varner, J. E. 1964. Gibberellic acid controlled synthesis of α-amylase in barley endosperm. Plant Physiol. 39:413-415.
- Varner, J. E. 1969. Evolution of developmental communication systems. Developmental Biol. (Supplement) 3:17-32.
- Varner, J. E. and G. Ram Chandra. 1964. Hormonal control of enzyme synthesis in barley endosperm. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 52: 100-106.
- Varner, J. E., G. R. Chandra, and M. J. Chrispeels. 1965. Gibberellic acid-controlled synthesis of α-amylase in barley endosperm. J. Cell. Compar. Physiol. 66 (Suppl. 1):55-68.
- Varner, J. E. and D. T.-H. Ho. 1976. The role of hormones in the integration of seedling growth. p. 173-194. In J. Papaconstantinou [ed.] The Molecular Biology of Hormone Action. Academic Press, New York.
- Varner, J. and M. Johri. 1967. Hormonal control of enzyme synthesis. p. 793-814. In F. Wightman and Setterfield [eds.] Biochemistry and Physiology of Plant Growth Substances. Runge Press Ltd., Ottawa, Canada.
- Varner, J. E. and R. M. Mense. 1972. Characteristics of the process of enzyme release from secretory plant cells. Plant Physiol. 49:187-189.
- Vigil, E. and M. Ruddat. 1972. Effect of gibberellic acid and Actinomycin D on the formation and distribution of rough endoplasmic reticulum in barley aleurone cells. Plant Physiol. 51:549-558.
- Weber, K. and M. Osborn. 1969. The reliability of molecular weight determinations by dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. J. Biol. Chem. 244:4406-4412.
- Wilkinson, D. S., A. Cihak, and H. C. Pitot. 1971. Inhibition of ribosomal ribonucleic acid maturation in rat liver by 5fluoroorotic acid resulting in the selective labeling of cytoplasmic messenger ribonucleic acid. J. Biol. Chem. 246: 6418-6427.
- Wilkinson, D. S. and H. C. Pitot. 1973. Inhibition of ribosomal ribonucleic acid maturation in Novikoff hepatoma cells by 5-fluorouracil and 5-fluorouridine. J. Biol. Chem. 248:63-68.

Winterburn, P. J. and C. F. Phelps. 1972. The significance of glycosylated proteins. Nature 236:147-151.

- Yomo, H. and J. E. Varner. 1971. Hormonal control of a secretory tissue. p. 111-144. <u>In</u> A. Moscana and A. Monroy [eds.] *Current Topics in Developmental Biology* Vol. 6. Academic Press, New York.
- Zwar, J. A. and J. V. Jacobsen. 1972. A correlation between a ribonucleic acid fraction selectively labeled in the presence of gibberellic acid and amylase synthesis in barley aleurone layers. Plant Physiol. 49:1000-1006.

ь



-· • . **>**

